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+ Our technology is patented in major
jurisdictions.

+ Our core technology runs on the device
using hardware acceleration and the latest
software. This performance allows for a
seamless capture process, without the
need for long wait times.

+ Images and private information never leave
the phone, ensuring security and privacy
standards are met across global regions.

+ Highly scalable to existing applications and
partner technology to capture greater data
insights.

+ Highly accurate measurements of your
body in a 3D model using only a smart
phone.

+ Partners embed our SDK (Software
Development Kit) into their new or existing
apps to gain greater understanding of their
consumer at the same time as delivering a
unique new consumer facing capability.

+ MyFiziq simplifies the collection of these
measurements and removes the margin of
human error present in traditional tape
measure methods.

Our Technology

ACCURACY VALIDATION 1

98%
HIPS

97.5%
WAIST

97%
THIGHS

98%
REPEATABILITY

1 Both accuracy and repeatability have been validated by Professor Timothy Ackland, Professor of Applied
Anatomy and Biomechanics, The University of Western Australia – ASX Announcement 18/10/2018.

Watch: How it Works – Markets (3:10)
Point phone camera at QR code to play video.

PLATFORMS PATENT PROTECTION

98%
CHEST

MyFiziq has developed a patented application that allows an individual to accurately track
the dimensions of their body directly from a smart phone.
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Health & Fitness

Life & Health Insurance

Wellness

TeleHealth

Apparel

+ BMI is a poor health indicator that leads to
misclassification.

+ Medical scanners are expensive
inaccessible, invasive.

+ Upfront assessment and early diagnosis of
chronic disease.

+ Early intervention should lead to
lower claim payouts and better
health outcomes.

+ Mobile / Digital tracking.
+ Connect health record with

Anthropometric data.
+ Interactive engagement.
+ Central private data repository.
+ Connectivity to personal activity and

health data.

+ Track & compare body progress.
+ Next-level personalized e-coaching

and gamification.
+ Added value, retention &

engagement.

+ Combined data with Wearables.
+ New wellness goals.
+ New data layer to 3rd parties.

+ Reduce wrong-size returns.
+ Size & fit matching algorithms.
+ Reduced time to purchase.
+ Custom Apparel.

Solving ProblemsWith Personalized Dimension

Unlocking Data Through Convergence

97.5%
Waist

97%
Thighs

98%
REPEATABILITY

98%
Hips

98%
Chest

Body Composition
Risks & Primary Health Markers Enhanced Dashboards

& Combined Data

Get the full spectrum of your physique and health profile by combining
a data rich environment with dimension.

( + More )

TOTAL BODY FAT
REPLACES BMI

WEIGHT
CONFIRMATION

Type-2
Diabetes

Cardiovascular
Disease

Obesity / Central
Obesity Risk

Heart Attack
Risk

Metabolic
Syndrome

Stroke
Risk
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Body Scan:
onDemand

Turnkey

Services

The full architecture is scoped &
designed with no limit on design.
This is usually where a partner

integrates fully.

A ready-to-go app available through
deeplinking that allows the same
customization as turnkey, but a

shorter time to market.

CompleteScan is a convergence of
technologies, unlocking a multitude of

biometric markers and risks such as CVD,
Obesity, Heart Attack, Stroke, Metabolic

Syndrome.

Custom CompleteScan

Theming pre-existing components
where fonts, color, icons and base
styles can be customized. This is
built as part of a partner app.

+ MyFiziq technology is embedded inside a partner app in various ways so that it
complements existing environments.

+ We offer turnkey integration solutions, deeplinking to Body Scan: onDemand app,
or can deliver a fully bespoke solution with customized measurements.

NEW

NEW

Profile Card

3D Model

Header Style

Nav style

Chart Colors

Tab Style

Icons

A ready-to-go, one-tap method to integrate body scans.

+ Quick Time to Market
Average time of 2 weeks.

+ Platforms
iOS Apple App Store, Android
Google Play.

+ Branding & Style
Colors & fonts can be
matched to existing
branding.

+ Built in Features
In addition to the body scan,
onDemand has built-in
support and body tracking.

+ Support & Maintenance
We support & maintain it - allow you
to focus on your own app.

+ How It Works
One-tap deeplinking from an
existing app, the Body Scan
onDemand app is opened,
settings are synchronized &
user authenticated.

Body Scan: onDemand

BUILT-IN SCAN
HELP

SIMPLE DOWNLOAD,
OR LOADS DIRECT. TRACK &

COMPARE
BUILT-IN
SUPPORT

CUSTOM THEMING
OPTIONS

ONE-TAP LINK FROM
PARTNER APPS

+
NEW SCAN
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CompleteScan is a convergence of technologies, each unlocking a multitude of biometric markers and risks.

+ How It Works
Face & Body scan data is
combined providing a full body
health assessment.

+ Platforms
iOS (Android coming soon).

+ Easy, Quick, Aware
Face scan completed in 30s,
body scan in under 60s.

Face scan runs in real-time,
providing feedback of scan.

Face scan automatically detects
and tracks your face identifying
key regions of interest.

+ Face Scan Features
Transdermal Optical Imaging
through a conventional video
camera extracts facial blood flow
information from the face.

+ Extend
Connect results to 3rd parties.

Endless possibilities in
TeleHealth, Medical & Wellness
applications.

+ Flexible
Integration freedom made
possible, by implementing Face
Scan and Body Scan separately,
opening new funnels for data
collection.

Core elements can be themed
and styled to match exisiting
branding.

CompleteScan

Watch video ”How the MyFiziq
Single Person Experience Works”
Point phone camera at QR code
to play video.

How It Works

ResultsStart1 Guide2 Capture3
End-to-end
process in
under 60s.

The application guides the user through setting up the phone, and taking their images privately & securely.



Phone
placed at
hips height

Typical
Capture
Setup

Evenly lit
room

Uncluttered
background
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Business Verticals
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RECENT TRANSACTIONS

$486M 8$8.6Bn 7

$710M 4,5,6

$9M 9 $12M 9

$48M+ 2,3

$672B

Health & Fitness

1 Global Weight Loss & Diet Management Products & Services Market (2010 - 2015).
2 TechCrunch 22/02/2017 “Fitbit reveals it paid $23 million to acquire Pebble’s assets“
3 MobiHealthNews 29 Feb 2018“Fitbit actually acquired FitStar for about $24.8M in the end”
4TechCrunch 14/11/2014 “Under Armour Buys Mobile Workout Veteran MapMyFitness For $150M As It Looks To Keep Pace In Digital Fitness”
5 Forbes 04/02/2015 “Under Armour Buys Health-Tracking App MyFitnessPal For $475 Million”
6 UABiz 2/4/2018 “Under Armour Reports Full Year Net Revenues Growth Of 32%; Announces Creation Of World's Largest Digital Health And Fitness Community”
7 TechCrunch August 28, 2019 “Peloton files publicly for IPO”
8 Marie Claire 25/10/2018 “You'll Never Believe How Much Kayla Itsines Is Worth”
9, 10 Crunchbase Hub - Acquired Fitness Companies

+ Add new value to member subscriptions.

+ Boost member engagement and retention.

+ Access biometric data layers for refined coaching, nutrition and fitness
goals.

+ Refined fitness plans through innovation.

+ Combine activity from wearables with body change.

+ Appeal to the vanity of the hard working member and increase
monetization.

+ Unlock primary health markers allowing partners unprecedented access to
a true health profile.

From US$4.99
User/month

Measure your changes, track your progress, and see the transformation.

1

MARKET SIZE

VERTICAL

PRICING
CURRENT CLIENTS

CURRENT CLIENTS

CURRENT PARTNERS

CURRENT PARTNERS

PROBLEMS SOLVED

+ Current wellness platforms are competing against each other with
the same solution but branded differently.

+ Adding digital anthropometric capabilities with MyFiziq is the
ultimate KYC of health. Combining body circumference and
composition with wearables allows an added layer of data to drive
wellness goals like never before.

+ Big data with body measurements provides a new, digital trackable
metric never available before to users, medical professionals and
insurers.

+ Primary markers of chronic disease are unlocked allowing
prevention and intervention, and a healthier workforce.

$84.9B 1

Wellness

1 Grand View Research July 2018 “Corporate Wellness Market Worth $84.9 Billion By 2025 | CAGR 6.8%“
2 PR Newswire 08/11/2018 “GetWellNetwork Acquires HealthLoop”
3 Inc42 25/09/2018 “Netmeds Acquires JustDoc To Add Diagnostic Services To Kitty”
4 Limeade 19/09/2018 “LIMEADE ACQUIRES SITRION AND ITS AWARD-WINNING EMPLOYEE EXPERIENCE SOLUTION”
5 Mobi Health News 05/09/2018 “Meditation app Headspace acquires Alpine.AI”
$UN = Undisclosed transactions

MARKET SIZE (BY 2025)

VERTICAL

PRICING

EXAMPLE COMPANIESRECENT TRANSACTIONS

PROBLEMS SOLVED

MyFiziq helps employers protect and engage their employees through gamification and digital health tracking via multiple
partner applications. This results in better employee retention, less sick leave and increased ROI.

Starting at US$4.99
Employee/month

$UN 2

$UN 3

$UN 4

$UN 5
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+ Preventable returns due to incorrect sizing costing retailers $63
Billion each year. 1

+ Our process factors in dimensions but as importantly we also factor
in an individual’s shape.

+ Custom apparel made possible opening the launch of new product
lines.

+ Allows reduced time-to-purchase through size auto-matching.

+ Increases retention and customer loyalty through better engagement
and personalization.

$1.4T 7

Apparel

1 Dynamic Action Research Study “Retailers and the Ghost Economy $1.75 Trillion Reasons to be Afraid“
2 CNBC 03/10/2017 “Amazon spent at least $50 million to buy 3D body scanning start-up Body Labs, report says”
3 LiveMint 16/04/2018 “Myntra acquires wearables maker Witworks”
4 Nike 09/04/2018 “Nike Acquires Invertex”
5 The Verge 16/03/2018 “L’Oreal acquires Modiface, a major AR beauty company”
6 IHL Dynamic Action “Research Study: Retailers and the Ghost Economy The Haunting of Returns”
7 Commonobjective “The Size of the Global Fashion Retail Market”

MyFiziq provides the ability to accurately measure a person. Not only for online purchasing of clothing, but also
in-store, providing a personal shopping experience.

Starting at 5% (Gross
sale price per garment)

$50-70M 2

$UN 3

$15M 4

$UN 5

MARKET SIZE

VERTICAL

PRICING EXAMPLE COMPANIESRECENT TRANSACTIONS

PROBLEMS SOLVED

+ Mobile technologies are particularly relevant, due to their ease
of use, broad reach and wide acceptance. In 2015 there were
more than 7 billion mobile telephone subscriptions across the
world, over 70% of which were in low- or middle- income
countries.

+ Telehealth has emerged as a powerful weapon in the war
against the COVID-19 pandemic. People are actively adopting
teleconsultation and remote monitoring services. The high
emphasis on social distancing between the patient and the
physicians is one of the major factors for the rising uptake of
these services.

+ Furthermore, the queries of people related to coronavirus
infection and the fear of virus transmission while travelling to
hospitals have surged the demand for online consultations.

$559B 1

TeleHealth

1 “Telehealth Market Size, Share & COVID-19 Impact Analysis, By Type (Products and Services), By Application..” – Fortune Business
Insights (Figure in billions “by 2027”) – Market Research Report Jul, 2020
2 “10 digital health mergers and acquisitions from Q3 2019” Oct 10, 2019 MobiHealthNews
3 “Teladoc to take over Livongo in $18.5B digital health deal” Aug 5, 2020 Fierce BioTech

MARKET SIZE

Digital technologies are becoming an important resource for remote precision medicine and personalized care.

$16M $18.5B

$UN$UN

$UN $UN

$UN $UN

2 3

2 2

2
2

2
2

Starting at US$4.99
Employee/month

MARKET SIZE

VERTICAL

PRICING CURRENT CLIENTS

RECENT TRANSACTIONS
PROBLEMS SOLVED
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+ With more than 100 active discussions across insurers globally,
BCT is in a strong position to see there is a clear intention from the
insurance industry to move into a digital on-line presence.

+ Large and prevalent obesity issue globally with 2.2 billion
estimated to be overweight, worldwide. 10

+ BCT has demonstrated it has advanced capability with a study
across 1,000 participants against BMI. BCT was superior and
removed 57% of the misdiagnosis of BMI.

+ By using easily accessible anthropometric data through a
smartphone, BMI can be replaced with an accurate TBF indicator
and prevent misdiagnosis and invoke healthy change.

$9.6T 1

Life & Health Insurance

1 Aon ”Insurance risk study Twelfth edition, 2017: Global Insurance Market Opportunities”
2 Healthcare Innovation 18/07/2018 “Report: Digital Health VC Funding Surges to Record $4.9 Billion in 2018”
3 Healthcare IT News 25/07/2018 “23andMe lands $300 million investment from GlaxoSmithKline”
4 Venturebeat 27/09/2018 “Butterfly raises $250 million for portable full-body ultrasound scanner”
5 “Siemens Healthineers moves deeper into cancer care, picking up radiotherapy developer Varian Medical for $16.4B” Fierce Biotech Aug 3, 2020
6 Business Wire 28/08/2018 “Outset Medical Closes $132 Million Financing to Accelerate Launch of Tablo Hemodialysis System”
7 Business Wire 14/02/2018 “HeartFlow Completes Series E Financing, Securing $240 Million”
8 “Teladoc to take over Livongo in $18.5B digital health deal” – Fierce Biotech Aug 5, 2020
9 Business Insider 01/03/2018 “A startup that could be a good model for the JPMorgan-Amazon-Berkshire Hathaway healthcare initiative just raised an additional $US110 million.”
10 CNBC “More than 2 billion people are overweight or obese worldwide, says study”, Global Burden of Disease (GBD) Study IHME

Understanding the consumer through digital access to primary markers of chronic disease and body
composition allowing predictive health outcomes and dynamic policy underwriting.

$291M 2 $300M 3

$16.5B 5$250M 4

$132M 6 $240M 7

$18.5B 8 $110M 9

Starting at US$4.99
Policy holder/month

MARKET SIZE

VERTICAL

PRICING CURRENT CLIENTS CURRENT PARTNER

COMMERCIALS IN PROGRESS

RECENT TRANSACTIONSPROBLEMS SOLVED

Current Executed Agreements
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115,000

Nuralogix

TBA

Active8me

TBA

WeSure

Timeline to be
established

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1100,000

Biomorphik
US$6.99-$3.49 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1250,000

McGregor
US$1.50 USER/MO

Break Even
140,000 @ US$1.50 a month

Evolt
A$2.99 USER/MO

(~US$2)

100,000 1

LA
U
N
CH

ED

2400,000

Bearn
US$2.00 USER/MO

LA
U
N
CH

ED

1600,000

Boditrax
US$1.30 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1
500,000

Fitocracy
US$1.50 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1
100,000

Nexus-Vita
US$2.99 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1
1,000,000

Jayex
Healthcare

US$2.99 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1
250,000

WellteQ
US$5.49-3.49 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

1410,000

Mayweather
US$1.50 USER/MO

IN
PR

OG
RE

SS

Timeline & Profitability

1 This is a target and not a forecast. The executed term sheets do not contain guarantees around minimum subscriber numbers.
2 Internal target.

Target Users

Q1
20

21

N
OV

20
20

+ The Jayex brand is synonymous with patient
management systems for GPs in the UK, where
the company has been operating for 40 years.

+ Jayex Connect, a platform owned by Jayex, has
evolved to become the first all-in-one patient
engagement platform.

+ CompleteScan Technology will be integrated into
the Jayex Connect patient engagement platform

+ MyFiziq CompleteScan gives Jayex the ability to
add a new dimension of remote patient
interaction and collection of vital patient data and
health readings by integrating with Jayex
Connect.

+ Jayex has a customer base spanning over 3,250
locations in the UK, Australia and New Zealand
and over 50 million patient interactions per year

Jayex Healthcare
WELLNESS LIFE & HEALTHINSURANCE TELEHEALTH

Example Design

Status
In Development

Followers
56M

Initial Target
1,000,000 Users

Release Target
Q1 2021

PROJECT

Recent
Clients &
Partnerships
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+ Biomorphik has created a pre-emptive health
platform, built on a simple idea: consistent and
early management of health and fitness at
younger ages has a compounding effect on health
later in life.

+ Biomorphik’s product offering includes services
for patients, care industry partners, governments,
wellness, and population health partners.

+ MyFiziq’s body tracking technology will be
integrated into Biomorphik’s pre-emptive health
platform.

+ Biomorphik have B2B clients in Australia and
New Zealand and are actively expanding into
Greater East Asia. from a mobile phone.

Biomorphik
WELLNESS

Example Design

Status
In Development

Followers
80M

Initial Target
100,000 Users

Release Target
Q4 2020

PROJECT

+ Nexus-Vita is a centralized intervention, medical
and health data centre. Nexus-Vita aims to
improve the health and life expectancy of people
at a population level through better knowledge,
understandable data, risk identification,
intervention, and treatment.

+ MYQ technology can aid in preventing disease,
identifying the need to adjust medications, and
delivering interventions. Continuous monitoring
can lead health care organizations to
personalized therapies that address unmet
medical needs prior to an event, by simply
understanding the user along their journey and
not at a single point in time.

+ Nexus-Vita will bridge the gap between the user,
health, insurance, and medical industries to give
clinicians, care teams, patients, and caregivers
better data, processed to help their specific needs
in a mass-market on an individualized basis.

Nexus-Vita
WELLNESS

Example Design

Status
Research & Development

Followers
17M

Initial Target
100,000 Users

Release Target
Q1 2021

PROJECT

LIFE & HEALTH INSURANCE TELEHEALTH

PROJECT

Example Design

WELLNESS LIFE & HEALTH INSURANCE TELEHEALTH

Status
In Development

Following
3.6M

Initial Target
250,000 Users

Release Target
Q1 2021

+ CompleteScan will be integrated into WellteQ’s
personalised digital wellness and analytics
platform.

+ The integrated offering will be first offered to
existing corporate customers including Willis
Towers Watson APAC, NIB, Bupa Australia, Toll
Logistics, Credit Suisse and DBS Bank.

+ Health platforms such as WellteQ are becoming a
highly sought-after engagement, triage and
monitoring tool for the public healthcare, corporate
and insurance sectors.

+ WellteQ analyses multiple facets of health and
activity with multiple engagement protocols from
mental wellbeing to activity tracking.

WellteQ: CompleteScan

+ NuraLogix has developed patented technology
which utilizes a video camera like that found on a
smartphone to take a 30 second selfie video of
your face and determine a wide range of
physiological and health related parameters such
as: heart rate, heart rate variability, blood
pressure, stress, cardiovascular disease risks and
much more.

+ The underlying technology is called Transdermal
Optical Imaging (TOI™) and uses the video camera
to extract blood flow information from your face.

+ This information is then processed by advanced
machine learning algorithms residing on
NuraLogix’s cloud based Affective AI (Artificial
Intelligence) Engine called DeepAffex™.

+ The MyFiziq image dimensioning capabilities will
be combined with DeepAffex and Transdermal
Optical Imaging, to form a never before total health
screen from a mobile phone.

NuraLogix
WELLNESS TELEHEALTH LIFE & HEALTH INSURANCE

Actual Design

Status
Research & Implementation

PROJECT

– Reseller
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Wellness, Health & Fitness,
TeleHealth
Status: In Development

Release Target: Q4 2020

Wellness, Life & Health
Insurance, TeleHealth
Status: Design &
Implementation
Release Target: TBA

Wellness, Life & Health
Insurance
Status: Launched in BCT

Launched: April 2020

Wellness

Status: Completed

Launched: October 2018

Health & Fitness

Status: In Development

Release Target: Q1 2021

Health & Fitness

Status: In Development

Release Target: Q1 2021

Wellness, Health & Fitness,
TeleHealth
Status: Launched

Released: August 2020

Wellness, Life & Health
Insurance, TeleHealth
Status: Design &
Implementation
Release Target: TBA

Wellness, Health & Fitness,
Life & Health Insurance

Stage: Testing, implementation,
micro-app design.

Health & Fitness

Status: Planning

Release Target: Q4 2020

Health & Fitness

Status: TBA

Release Target: TBA

Wellness, Life & Health
Insurance, TeleHealth
Status: Design &
Implementation
Release Target: TBA

Wellness, Health & Fitness,
TeleHealth
Status: Design &
Implementation
Release Target: TBA

Other Clients & Partnerships

PARTNERS

Wellness, Health & Fitness

Users: 600,000

Launched: June 2020
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The Directors present the financial statements of MyFiziq Limited (“MyFiziq” or “the Company”) for the year 
ended 30 June 2020.   

 

Principal Activities and Operating Model 

The principal activity of the Company during the financial year was the ongoing development of its mobile 
phone-based technology, which provides end-users with an ability to scan their body using their mobile phone 
camera to give them accurate dimensions of their anatomy. The Company’s technology is offered as software 
as a service solution (“SAAS”) using a business-to-business (“B2B”) operating model.   

MyFiziq operates across the following B2B business verticals:  

 Health & Fitness  

 Insurance Life & Health  

 Telemedicine /Digital Health  

 Online Apparel  

 Wellness  

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year. 

 

Review of Operations 

Operating results and financial position 

The net loss after income tax for the financial year was $5,396,512 (2019: $4,357,162), which includes 
$2,073,776 (2019: $1,206,802) in respect of share-based payments to suppliers, directors and employees under 
the Company’s incentive plans.  
 
Before share-based payments, the Company’s adjusted net loss after income tax for the financial year is 
$3,322,736, which represents a 5% (or $172,376) increase over FY19 ($3,150,360), calculated as follows: 
 
Table 1. Impact of Share-based payments on Total comprehensive loss for the year 

 Year Ended 
30 June 2020 

$ 

Year Ended 
30 June 2019 

$ 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year  

5,396,512 4,357,162 

   

Share-based payments (non-
cash) adjusted for: 

  

Directors and employees      
remuneration 

1,120,357 1,206,802 

Corporate advisory services 918,919 - 

Investor relations 34,500 - 

 2,073,776 1,206,802 

   

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year before share-based 
payments 

 
3,322,736 

 
3,150,360 
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Cash assets at the end of the financial year were $627,304 (2019: $573,977) with the Company having access to 
convertible note funding of A$1.84m available on 30 June 2020 (refer to Note 17 6 of the Notes to the Financial 
Statements). 

The Company's operations during the year performed as expected in the opinion of the directors. 

Company Overview 
Vlado Bosanac, Chief Executive Officer:  

This has been a landmark year for the Company. Our team has worked exceptionally hard over the past five 
years to produce a versatile, highly accurate piece of technology which is now being delivered to the global 
market. Off the back of fifteen signed term sheets with partners, our focus over FY21 will be on fulfilling our 
contractual obligations and delivering our software as a service (SAAS) to a wide audience via our sales channel 
partners. Consequently, generating and growing top line revenue is right at the top of our strategic agenda. 

With Wellteq having already launched in FY19, the Evolt Active app (with the MyFiziq technology embedded) 
was made available on the Apple Store in June 2020. Although marketing is yet to commence, the launch of the 
Evolt Active app in many ways signalled the beginning of the growth cycle for MyFiziq. MyFiziq has a further 
thirteen product launches we expect to deliver over the course of 2020 and 2021, courtesy of the previous 
signed and announced agreements the Company had in place with channel partners at the reporting date.  

There have been several other noteworthy highlights during the financial year under review which has given the 
Company the ideal foundation with which to implement its growth plans in FY21. Firstly, the Company navigated 
its way through the initial COVID-19 challenge, securing USD1.5 million (circa A$2.2m) in capital and an 
additional $600,000 in loan funding during the period, while simultaneously reducing our liabilities by $1.89 
million with the conversion of  convertible note holders to shares. The shares were issued at an agreed price of 
$0.30 per share, which was a premium to the market at the time of announcement on 17 June 2020 of 25%.   

The USD1.5 million capital funding mentioned above is a significant development for the Company, primarily as 
the deal has been concluded with the goal of advancing the companies prospect to a NASDAQ listing. Listing on 
the NASDAQ will give the future growth of the Company a tremendous boost. It will assist MyFiziq with 
advancing relationships with its US domiciled partners which in turn will bring both fresh investors and support 
to the Company. The Company will be providing further updates to shareholders as developments unfold. 

 

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS AT A GLANCE 

5 
Five new agreements signed with 
partners during the year. 

15 
Fifteen signed agreements in place 
with sales channel partners overall 
(at the signing date). 

$561,537 
$561,537 improvement to ‘Net 
cash flows from operating 
activities’ compared to FY19. 

USD$1.5 MILLION 
NASDAQ FUNDING 

 
$1.5 million in funding was 
secured during the reporting 
period, primarily for working 
capital and the dual listing to 
NASDAQ Capital Market. 

STABLE THROUGH 
COVID-19 

 
COVID-19 has had minimal 
negative impact overall with 
Company experiencing a 47% 
increase in share price between 2 
March 2020 and 30 June 2020. 
Whilst a number of our partners 
experienced minor delays but are 
now back on track.  

$1.8 MILLION IN DEBT 
SETTLED 

 
During the year, $693,124 was 
received from partners for 
application builds and 
subscriptions, convertible note 
debt of $1.3 million was settled by 
way of share issue and $550k in 

loans have been repaid.  
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Year Highlights 

Five (5) new agreements 

During the year, the Company signed binding term sheets with WellKom, TicTrac, Fit Capital HK, Serfaty Clinic 
Brazil, and Bearn, LLC and a letter of intent (LOI) with the Serfaty Clinic.  

Bearn presents a unique multi-sided vendor backed platform that allows for the gamification and engagement 
of health with users. Users earn actual cash for improving their health, fitness, and wellness.  Both WellKom and 
Tictrac area UK-based wellness platforms, whereas Fit Capital HK offers a goal setting and social betting training 
platform through their app (Stryde Fitness app). The LOI with the Serfaty Clinic is to commence testing of the 
new CompleteHealth application in readiness for entry into the Brazilian market, for the identification of the 
obese and overweight population in Brazil. 

Fifteen (15) binding term sheets overall 

At the time of this report, the Company had fifteen (15) signed agreements overall, three of which have already 
been launched through our channel partners, namely Wellteq, Evolt and Bearn. The remaining eleven 
agreements are anticipated to launch throughout the course of 2020 and 2021. The potential revenue that will 
be generated from the uptake in subscriptions as part of our software as a service (SAAS) licensing and delivery 
model is expected to be material and the Company is confident that it will achieve break-even within the next 
12 months. The precise timing on this may be subject to volatility given the current state of the world economy. 

$561,537 improvement in ‘Net cash flows used in operating activities’ 

During FY20, the Company received a total of $695,124 in payments from partners for application development 
and subscriptions. During the period 1 March 2020 to 30 June 2020 (‘Q4”), the Company had one of the best 
operating quarters since its inception in 2014. The Company received over $654,239 from customers and 
partners and reduced its operating expenditure over Q4 by 49%, compared to the average of the previous 3 
months, resulting in a saving during the quarter of $1.1 million (refer to the ‘Quarterly Report and Appendix 4C’ 
announced on the ASX platform on 30 July 2020). As a result, ‘Net cash flows used in operating activities’ 
improved by $561,537 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020.  

USD$1.5 million Funding 

On 1 June 2020, the Company announced that it had executed a formal funding agreement for USD$1.5 million 
(circa A$2.2m) with Asia Cornerstone Asset Management (ACAM) by way of convertible note. The capital raised 
will be used to assist the Company with its working capital and expansion into the US,  commencing the 
process of seeking a dual listing of the Company’s securities on the main index of the NASDAQ Capital 
Market.  The Company is looking to raise a total of USD$3 million by way of convertible note, with discussions 
underway with potential investors to complete the balance of USD$1.5 million. 

$1.89 million debt settled 

Cash inflows of $1.666 million during the period 1 March 2020 through 30 June 2020, which includes a $600,000 
advance from R&D Capital Partners (Pty) Ltd on the Company’s R & D tax rebate, ensured a strong ending to 
FY20 and allowed the Company to shore up its balance sheet by repaying $550k in borrowings, with a further 
$1.34 million in convertible note debt settled by way of a share issue, at $0.30 per share. 

Stable through COVID-19 

Despite the economic shut down of many businesses and economies around the world due to the COVID-19 

pandemic, MyFiziq has remained steady by achieving one of its best quarterly results and raising USD$1.5 million 

during the period. Furthermore, the Company has been identified by current and potential new partners as a 

key component in the digital health and Telemedicine space. This has provided some real opportunities for 

MyFiziq and its technology. An example of this is the Memorandum of Understanding the Company has executed 

with Canadian-based NuraLogix, where MyFiziq’s will integrate with NuraLogix to form the CompleteHealth 

application (in development) allowing a user to identify a number of markers through both facial and total body 

scans to assist in identifying chronic illness (refer ASX announcement dated 6 July 2020).  
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Conclusion on the Company’s performance during the 2020 financial year  

The board and management believe the Company made significant progress during F20, laying a solid foundation 

for further growth in FY21. Listing on the NASDAQ will undoubtedly create value for the Company and its 

shareholders and is a top priority for the board and management. From a financial perspective, the Company 

made substantial reductions to debt and collected payments from partners, which improved both the qualitative 

and quantitative aspects of the balance sheet and brought about a strong finish for the Company to FY19. 

The Company has progressed its position well over the period, having achieve multiple new partner agreements, 

launched 3 applications, reduced debt and raise capital for expansion. The focus of the year to come is to drive 

further partner signings and revenue from existing partnerships.  

Looking forward  

We are excited by the many opportunities across the Company, to better grow the business on a global scale 

and, in doing so, create value for our shareholders. We are focused on generating top line revenue by launching 

with our partners in accordance with the fifteen signed agreements already in place. With the Evolt Active app 

already live, the Bearn app launched on 24 August 2020 and is now available on both the Apple App Store and 

the Google Play Store. The MyFiziq technology is embedded into the Bearn application and ready to reach into 

the 25,000,000 pre-registered users they have acquired through their existing partnerships.  

The potential listing on the NASDAQ will give the Company an opportunity to accelerate its expansion in the US 

by being domiciled closer to its core customer base, who are experiencing rapid industry growth, particularly in 

the digital health space. According to CB Insights1, over $20 billion in funding was raised across 150 digital health 

cohort2 companies in 2020 alone, of which 77% pertains to funding raised in the US. 

In closing, we expect some headwinds from a challenged global economy in FY20, however, we have begun the 

new financial year with momentum. A continued focus on revenue, growth and a possible listing on the NASDAQ 

is expected to deliver meaningful benefits to the Company and its shareholders in the year ahead. The board 

and management remain confident for the outlook for FY21. 

 

 

 

1 – ‘Digital Health 150: The Digital Health Startups Transforming the Future of Healthcare.’ 

(https://www.cbinsights.com/research/report/digital-health-startups-redefining-healthcare/) 

2 - The 2020 Digital Health 150 cohort comprises a broad range of startups, including well-funded companies commercializing 

their products and expanding into new markets, startups forming business relationships with key industry players, and early-

stage startups with a strong research focus. A full list can be found by clicking the cbinsights.com link above.  
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Directors   

The following persons were directors of MyFiziq during or since the end of the year and up to the date of this 
report, and were in office for this entire period unless stated otherwise: 
 

Mr Peter Wall - B.Com, LLB, MAppFin FFin 

(Non-Executive Chairman) 

Mr Wall is a corporate lawyer and has been a Partner at Steinepreis Paganin (Perth based corporate law firm) 
since July 2005. Mr Wall graduated from the University of Western Australia in 1998 with a Bachelor of Laws 
and Bachelor of Commerce (Finance). He has also completed a Masters of Applied Finance and Investment with 
FINSIA.  

Mr Wall has a wide range of experience in all forms of commercial and corporate law, with a particular focus on 
technology companies, resources (hard rock and oil/gas), equity capital markets and mergers and acquisitions. 
He also has significant experience in dealing in cross border transactions.  

Mr Wall is currently non-executive chairman of ASX listed companies MMJ Group Holdings Ltd, Transcendence 
Technologies Limited, Minbos Resources Limited, Pursuit Minerals Limited and Argent Minerals Ltd.  

In the 3 years immediately before the end of the 2020 financial period, Mr Wall served as non-executive 
chairman of Zinc of Ireland NL (resigned 21 July 2016), Ookami Limited (resigned January 2018), Activistic Limited 
(resigned 23 April 2018), Zyber Holdings Limited (resigned 22 January 2018), Sky and Space Global Ltd (resigned 
4 December 2018) and Mandrake Resources Limited (resigned June 2019). 

 

Mr Vlado Bosanac  

(Executive Director and CEO) 

Mr Bosanac is the co-founder of MyFiziq.  Mr Bosanac has a strong track record in delivering results and his skill 
sets will help the Company to move towards commercialisation of the MyFiziq app. Mr. Bosanac, combines over 
28 years of experience in capital markets, deal origination, negotiation, corporate advisory, strategy, project 
implementation, and private and public investment. His career spans over many decades with both public and 
private companies. In the last 2 decades, Mr. Bosanac has been primarily focused on deal origination and 
investment, whilst advising several companies and assuming roles as a director, advisor, founder, and board 
member, including HealthTec Growth Partners (HDP) which later became Greenday Corporate (GDC), Greenday 
Commodities and Fullerton Capital. In 2013 Mr. Bosanac founded, along with Dr. Katherine Iscoe, MyFiziq. He 
led the business development side of the business from 2013 to 2016 and in 2016 he assumed the role of Chief 
Executive Officer.  

Mr Bosanac has not served as a director of any other listed companies in the 3 years immediately before the 
end of the 2020 financial year. 
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Mr Michael Melby  

(Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Melby brings a wealth of knowledge and skills to the Board through his experience as an entrepreneur, 
investment banker and private equity professional.  

Michael is the portfolio manager at Gate City Capital Management, a micro-cap value focused investment firm 
he founded in 2011. Before launching Gate City Capital Management, Michael worked as a research analyst at 
Crystal Rock Capital Management where he covered the consumer, restaurant, retail, and gaming sectors. Mr 
Melby has demonstrated global success investing in the fitness industry and building one of the fastest growing 
gym chains in the world, UFC Gym. Mr. Melby has expanded his investment portfolio into the fitness technology 
sector by acquiring fitness app Fitocracy, ultimately leading to his co-founding of FITLAB.  

Michael earned an MBA from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business where he graduated with 
Honors and a BBA in Finance from the University of Notre Dame where he graduated Summa Cum Laude. 
Michael is a CFA Charterholder and has earned the Financial Risk Manager designation. 

Mr Melby has not served as a director of any other listed companies in the 3 years immediately before the end 
of the 2020 financial year. 

 

Mr Nicholas Prosser  
(Non-Executive Director) 

Mr Prosser combines over 20 years of experience in the ICT sector and over 10 years as a founder, entrepreneur, 
and private investor. Previously he has been involved in Canberra Data Center as a founder and director. 
Canberra Data Center was established in 2011 and sold to a private equity firm in 2017 for $1.1 billion. Prior to 
2011 Nicholas was a consultant and contractor to the Federal Government and Private companies in Australia. 
His knowledge spans multiple industries, data centre and financial compliance companies as founder and board 
member. 

Mr Prosser has also been a director of Prosser foundation a private Australian charity 2018 to 2020, Cpdone 
Singapore a financial profession compliance company 20015 to 2020, and ThinkCaddie a financial profession 
compliance company 2018 to 2019. 

Mr Prosser has not served as a director of any other listed companies in the 3 years immediately before the end 
of the 2020 financial year. 

 

Mr Dato Low Koon Poh - FACCA 

(Non-Executive Director – appointed 13 July 2020) 

Mr Low is a Chartered Accountant who holds multiple offices in both private and public companies.  Since 
January 2009, Mr Low started his accounting services practice and has been the President of KL Management 
Services in Petaling Jaya, Malaysia. Mr. Low has also been the President of IPO Partners Limited, a corporate 
advisory firm since April 2015, and a director of Round Table Partners Berhad since 2019. Mr. Low has worked 
on corporate projects involving mergers and acquisitions, initial public offerings, corporate restructuring, 
reverse mergers in Malaysia, Singapore, Australia, USA, and Taiwan. 

Prior to his position at KL Management Service, Mr. Low worked as an auditor for an international audit firm, an 
accountant for a Japanese MNC, plus a couple of years as Financial Controller for two public listed companies in 
Malaysia. Mr. Low has 22 years of combined experience in corporate finance, auditing, and accounting in various 
industries such as construction, plantation, hotels, property, manufacturing, marketing, and many more. 

Mr. Low is a Fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and a Practicing 
Chartered Accountant under the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA). 
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Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary  

Steven Richards – (Hons) B.Compt, B.Compt (cum laude), Chartered Accountant 

(Appointed 6 September 2019) 

Mr Richards combines over 15 years of experience in retail, sport brands and technology at Chief Financial Officer 
level, following a lengthy career as the Financial Director of PUMA Sports (South Africa) and then at Quiksilver 
as the Chief Financial Officer. Mr Richards also served as the Chief Financial Officer for Airscope Industries, a 
high-tech drone technology company.  

From 2016 to 2019, he served as a lead business transformation consultant for Ramesys Global, a consultancy 
practice specialising in business transformation and profit optimization. Mr. Richards also served in a senior 
financial role at HealthEngine, a fast-growing technology company. Steven Richards does not currently hold any 
directorships.  

He has an undergraduate degree from University of South Africa, which he achieved with distinction, a 
postgraduate degree and he is a Chartered Accountant through the South African Institute of Chartered 
Accountants. 

Mr Richards is the current Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of MyFiziq. 

 

Former Company Secretary 

Kevin Hart - B. Com, FCA 

(Resigned 31 October 2019) 

Mr Hart is a Chartered Accountant with over 30 years’ experience in accounting and the management and 
administration of public listed entities. He is a partner in an advisory firm, Endeavour Corporate. 
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Interests in the Shares, Options and Performance Rights of the Company  

The following interests in shares, options and performance rights of the Company were held by the directors, or 
their related entities, as at the date of this report: 
 

Director 

Number of 
fully paid 
ordinary 
shares 

Number of 
Performance 

Shares – 
Class A 

Number of 
Performance 

Shares – 
Class B 

Number of 
Performance 

Rights 
Vested 

Number of 
Performance 

Rights Not 
Vested 

P Wall 8, 700,000 - - - - 

V Bosanac 3,391,864 - - 4,000,000 - 

M Melby 2,000,000 - - - - 

N Prosser 5,253,582 - - - - 

D Poh 300,000 - - - - 

 
Further details of the vesting conditions applicable to these performance shares and performance rights are 
disclosed in the remuneration report section of this directors’ report. 
 

Equity Securities on Issue 

Class of Security 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 

Ordinary fully paid shares 114,392,923 91,621,888 

Performance Shares – Class A1 - 15,000,000 

Performance Shares – Class B1 - 15,000,000 

Options over unissued shares 11,450,000 7,850,000 

Performance rights over unissued shares 15,700,000  19,000,000  
1 - During the financial year, 30,000,000 Performance Shares (15,000,000 Class A and 15,000,000 Class B) were 
cancelled due to performance milestones not being met within the stipulated timeframe.   

Ordinary Fully Paid Shares 

During the financial year 22,771,035 ordinary shares were issued.  Since the end of the financial year and the 
date of this report, 250,000 ordinary shares have been issued (shares issued to a supplier in lieu of a cash 
payment, with the benefit of improving cash flow in the current economic climate). 

At the date of this report, there were 114,642,923 ordinary shares on issue. There are no unpaid amounts on 
the shares issued. 

 

Options over Ordinary Shares 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company issued 5,400,000 unlisted options to suppliers and employees 
and 300,000 unlisted options were cancelled.  Each option issued entitles the holder to subscribe for and be 
allotted one ordinary share. 
 
During the year 1,000,000 options exercisable at 20 cents each and expiring 30 September 2020, were exercised 
utilising the cashless exercise provisions of the Option Incentive Scheme.  The cashless exercise resulted in the 
issue of 230,769 ordinary shares.  A further 500,000 unlisted options with an exercise price of $0.10 and expiring 
on 31 December 2020 were exercised during the year. 
 
Since the end of the financial year and the date of this report, 100,000 options have been cancelled. No options 
have been issued, exercised or vested between the end of the financial year and the date of this report.  
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Equity Securities on Issue (continued) 

Options over Ordinary Shares (continued) 

At the date of this report unissued ordinary shares of the Company under option are:  

Grant Date  Number of options 

granted 

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting date Expiry date 

21 Dec 2016 1,750,000 10 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2020 

21 Dec 2016 500,000 10 26 Oct 2018 31 Dec 2020 

21 Dec 2016 1,250,000 10 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2021 

21 Dec 2016 500,000 10 26 Oct 2019 30 Dec 2021 

31 Jul 2018 400,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

31 Jul 2018 400,000 50 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

7 Dec 2018 100,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

7 Dec 2018 100,000 50 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

1 Feb 2019 400,000 65 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

1 Feb 2019 400,000 65 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

12 Feb 2019 250,000 60 5 Mar 2019 20 Feb 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,000,000 25 4 Dec 2019 4 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,500,000 45 4 Jun 2020 4 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 2,500,000 60 4 Dec 2020 4 Dec 2022 

24 Feb 2020 300,000 50 31 Jan 2021 31 Jan 2022 

Total 11,350,000 

 
Under the terms of the Options, holders of options are not entitled to any voting rights nor may they participate 
in any share issue of the Company. 
 
Performance Rights over Ordinary Shares 

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company issued 6,300,000 performance rights with various 
performance milestones to employees under the Company’s Incentive Performance Rights Plan.  Each 
performance right entitles the holder the right to acquire one ordinary share subject to satisfaction of vesting 
criteria.  
 
During the year 1,050,000 performance rights vested and 9,550,000 performance rights were exercised and 
converted to ordinary shares.  No performance rights were cancelled during the financial year. 
 
Since the end of the financial year and the date of this report, no performance rights have been granted, 
exercised, expired or cancelled.   
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Equity Securities on Issue (continued) 

Performance Rights over Ordinary Shares (continued) 

The performance rights position at the date of this report is: 
 

Grant Date No of 
Rights 

Expiry Date Vesting  

03 Mar 2017 2,000,000 03 Mar 2021 Vested 

03 Mar 2017 2,000,000 03 Mar 2022 Vested 

15 Nov 2017 500,000 31 Dec 2020 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 3,000,000 3 Sep 2021 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 30 Nov 2020 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 30 Nov 2020 Vested 

6 Sep 2019 5,000,000 04 Dec 2023 Subject to performance criteria 

6 Sep 2019 1,250,000 28 Feb 2021 Subject to performance criteria 

Total 15,750,000 

 

Dividends 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the start of the financial year and the directors do not recommend 
the payment of a dividend in respect of the financial year. 

 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

The Company announced on the 1st of June 2020 that it had secured an initial USD$1.5m from a cornerstone 
investor out of Hong Kong, Asia Cornerstone Asset Management (“ACAM”).  This initial USD$1.5m has assisted 
the Company in progressing its desire to be listed on the US-based NASDAQ exchange. Refer to the ‘Company 
Overview’ in the Directors Report, as well as ‘Note 17’ of the ‘Notes to the Annual Financial Statements’ for more 
information on the USD$1.5m capital raised. 

Other than the above, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the year. 

 

Events Subsequent to end of the Financial Year 

On 13 July 2020, Dato Low Koon Poh (“Ken Low”) was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company. 
More information on Ken Low can be found in the “Directors’ section of this report. More information on events 
that have happened after the reporting date, can be found in ‘Note 27’ of the notes to the annual financial 
statements. 

On 20 July 2020, the Company announced that it would participate in the Body Composition Technologies Pte 
Ltd (BCT) capital raising in the amount of approximately $671,000. The participation will increase MyFiziq’s 
shareholding in BCT, upon conversion, to a majority stake of 54.5% in BCT (on a fully diluted basis). 

The impact of the Coronavirus ('COVID-19') pandemic is ongoing for the entity up to 30 June 2020, it is not 
practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is 
rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, 
such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus 
that may be provided. 
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Likely Developments and Expected Results 

In late 2019, MyFiziq commenced discussions with US advisors and bankers on the potential to dual list the 
Company on the US-based NASDAQ exchange. The NASDAQ initiative is progressing well, with the Company 
having secured an initial USD$1.5m from Hong Kong based, Asia Cornerstone Asset Management (“ACAM”) to 
assist with the listing. Additionally, the Company has commenced all required registrations with the US Securities 
and Exchange Commission and is now in the advanced stages of appointing a lead underwriter to provide 
services in connection with the NASDAQ Listing. 

Refer to the ‘Company Overview’ in the Directors Report, as well as ‘Note 17’ of the ‘Notes to the Annual 
Financial Statements’ for more information on the USD$1.5m capital raised. 

In general terms, the review of operations of the Company gives an indication of likely developments and the 
expected results of the operations. In the opinion of the directors, disclosure of any further information would 
be likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the Company. 

 

Environmental Regulation and Performance 

The Company is not subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its operations.  

 

Officers’ Indemnities and Insurance 

During the year the Company paid an insurance premium to insure certain officers of the Company.  The officers 
of the Company covered by the insurance policy include the Directors named in this report.  

The Directors and Officers Liability insurance provides cover against all costs and expenses that may be incurred 
in defending civil or criminal proceedings that fall within the scope of the indemnity and that may be brought 
against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company.  The insurance policy does not contain details 
of the premium paid in respect of individual officers of the Company.  Disclosure of the nature of the liability 
cover and the amount of the premium is subject to a confidentiality clause under the insurance policy. 

The Company has not provided any insurance for an auditor of the Company. 

 

Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose 
of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court under 
section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 

Directors’ Meetings 

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of 
meetings attended by each director.  During the financial year, the Company held 4 board meetings.  
 

Director 
Board of Directors’ Meetings 

Number Eligible to Attend Number Attended 

P Wall 4 4 

V Bosanac 4 4 

M Melby  4 3 

N Prosser  4 4 
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Non-audit Services 

During the period PKF Perth, the Company’s auditor, provided non-audit services of $2,900 (2019: $2,900).  A 
further $20,000 has been paid to PKF Brisbane for assurance services provided in connection with the listing of 
the Company on the NASDAQ Capital Market. 

The Board considers any non-audit services provided during the year by the auditor and satisfies itself that the 
provision of any non-audit services during the year by the auditor is compatible with, and does not compromise, 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

 all non-audit services are reviewed by the Board to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and 
objectivity of the auditor; and 

 the non-audit services provided do not undermine the general principles relating to auditor 
independence as set out in APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, as they do not involve 
reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision making capacity for 
the Company, acting as an advocate for the Company or jointly sharing risks and rewards. 
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Remuneration Report (Audited) 

Remuneration paid to Directors and Officers of the Company is set by reference to such payments made by other 
ASX listed companies of a similar size and operating in a similar industry. In addition, reference is made to the 
specific skills and experience of the Directors and Officers. 

Details of the nature and amount of remuneration of each Director, and other Key Management Personnel if 
applicable, are disclosed annually in the Company’s Annual Report. 

Remuneration Committee 

The Board has adopted a formal Remuneration Committee Charter which provides a framework for the 
consideration of remuneration matters. 

The Company does not have a separate remuneration committee and as such all remuneration matters are 
considered by the Board as a whole, with no Member deliberating or considering such matter in respect of their 
own remuneration. 

In the absence of a separate Remuneration Committee, the Board is responsible for: 

1. Setting remuneration packages for Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors and other Key 
Management Personnel; and 

2. Implementing employee incentive and equity-based plans and making awards pursuant to those plans. 

Non-Executive Remuneration 

The Company’s policy is to remunerate Non-Executive Directors, at rates comparable to other ASX listed 
companies in the same industry, for their time, commitment and responsibilities. 

To align Directors’ interests with shareholders’ interests, remuneration may be provided to Non-Executive 
Directors in the form of equity based long term incentives. 

1. Fees payable to Non-Executive Directors are set within the aggregate amount approved by shareholders at 
the Company’s Annual General Meeting; 

2. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are payable in the form of cash and superannuation benefits; 
3. Non-Executive superannuation benefits are limited to statutory superannuation entitlements; and 
4. Participation in equity-based remuneration schemes by Non-Executive Directors is subject to consideration 

and approval by the Company’s shareholders. 

The maximum annual Non-Executive Directors’ fees, payable in aggregate are approved by Shareholders at the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting. 
 
Executive Director and Other Key Management Personnel Remuneration 

Executive remuneration consists of base salary, plus other performance incentives to ensure that: 

1. Remuneration packages incorporate a balance between fixed and incentive pay, reflecting short- and long-
term performance objectives appropriate to the Company’s circumstances and objectives; and 

2. A proportion of remuneration is structured in a manner to link reward to corporate and individual 
performances. 

Executives are offered a competitive level of base salary at market rates (based on comparable ASX listed 
companies) and are reviewed regularly to ensure market competitiveness. 

To date the Company has not engaged external remuneration consultants to advise the Board on remuneration 

matters. 

  



 
Directors’ Report 

   

16 
 

Remuneration Report (continued) 

 

Incentive Plans 

The Company provides long term incentives to Directors and Employees pursuant to the MyFiziq Limited 
Incentive Option Plan (approved by shareholders on 27 November 2019) or the MyFiziq Limited Incentive 
Performance Rights Plan (approved by shareholders on 16 February 2017). 

The Board, acting in remuneration matters, will: 

1. Ensure that incentive plans are designed around appropriate and realistic performance targets and provide 
rewards when those targets are achieved; 

2. Review and improve existing incentive plans established for employees; and 

3. Approve the administration of the incentive plans, including receiving recommendations for, and the 
consideration and approval of grants pursuant to such incentive plans. 

 

Engagement of Non-Executive Directors 

Non-Executive Directors conduct their duties under the following terms: 

1. A Non-Executive Director may resign from his/her position and thus terminate their contract on written 
notice to the Company; and 

2. A Non-Executive Director may, following resolution of the Company’s shareholders, be removed before the 
expiration of their period of office (if applicable). Payment is made in lieu of any notice period if termination 
is initiated by the Company, except where termination is initiated for serious misconduct. 

In consideration of the services provided by Mr Peter Wall as Non-Executive Chairman, the Company will pay 
him $60,000 per annum.  

In consideration of the services provided by Messrs Michael Melby, Nicholas Prosser and Dato Low as Non-
Executive Directors, the Company will pay each of them $36,000 per annum. In addition, Messrs Melby and 
Prosser will receive 1,000,000 fully paid ordinary shares for each 12-month period that they remain engaged 
with the Company.  Mr Low is also entitled to fully paid ordinary shares in the Company, the quantum of which 
is to be determined within 60 days of his appointment and will be subject to Board and shareholder approval. 

Messrs Wall, Melby, Prosser and Low are also entitled to fees for other amounts as the Board determines where 
they perform special duties or otherwise perform extra services or make special exertions on behalf of the 
Company.  

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Company incurred no such additional costs.  

Non-executive directors are eligible to participate in the Company’s incentive plans. 

 

Engagement of Executive Directors 

Mr Vlado Bosanac 

The Company has agreed terms with Mr Vlado Bosanac in relation to his role as Executive Director and Chief 
Executive Officer, effective 17 October 2016.  The terms, which are summarised below, are included in a formal 
executive services agreement. 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

 

In respect of his engagement as Executive Director and CFO, commencing 17 October 2016, Mr Bosanac will be 
paid a base salary of $295,650 per annum inclusive of statutory superannuation (Total Fixed Remuneration, or 
TFR). The TFR is subject to annual review by the Board of Directors and any increase in salary is subject to the 
discretion of the Board.  

Mr Bosanac may also receive a short-term performance-based reward in the form of a cash bonus up to 100% 
of the TFR, the performance criteria, assessment and timing of which are determined at the discretion of the 
Board.  The Board has not yet determined this performance criteria, assessment or timing but when it has, this 
will apply prospectively. 

Under the executive services agreement, Mr Bosanac is entitled to performance-based remuneration of 
10,000,000 Performance Rights which was approved by shareholders on 29 November 2017.   All performance 
rights have vested and 6,000,000 of the performance rights have been exercised.   

Mr Bosanac holds the following vested Performance Rights under the MyFiziq Limited Incentive Performance 
Rights Plan: 

 

The following Performance Rights have already been exercised and converted to fully paid ordinary shares: 

 2,000,000 to vest upon the first to occur of: 
The Company signing its first commercial transaction where the party or organisation has 5m or more 
active subscribers/followers; and 
The 10-trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX being 
equal to or greater than $0.20. 
Expiry date:  03.03.2018 

 2,000,000 to vest upon the first to occur of: 
50,000 users or $500k annualised revenue; and 
The 10-trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX being 
equal to or greater than $0.30. 
Expiry date:  03.03.2019 

 2,000,000 to vest upon the first to occur of: 
100,000 users or $1m annualised revenue; and 
The 10-trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX being 
equal to or greater than $0.40. 
Expiry date:  03.03.2020 
 

The following Performance Rights have not yet been exercised: 

 2,000,000 to vest upon the first to occur of: 
200,000 users or $2.5m annualised revenue; and 
The 10-trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX being 
equal to or greater than $0.50. 
Expiry date:  03.03.2021 

 2,000,000 to vest upon the first to occur of: 
250,000 users or $5m annualised revenue; and 
The 10-trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX being 
equal to or greater than $0.60. 
Expiry date:  03.03.2022 

 

The executive services agreement can be terminated without cause with 3 months written notice or the 
provision of 3 month’s salary in lieu of notice. 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

 

Short Term Incentive Payments 

The Board may, at its sole discretion, set the Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) for the Executive Directors or 
other Executive Officers. The KPIs are chosen to align the reward of the individual Executives to the strategy and 
performance of the Company. 

Performance objectives, which may be financial or non-financial, or a combination of both, are determined by 
the Board. 

No short term incentives are payable to Executives where it is considered that the actual performance has fallen 
below the minimum requirement. 

 
Short Term Incentive Payments (continued) 

No formal performance evaluation in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020 has taken place in accordance with 
this process, and accordingly no short term incentive payments have been paid or are payable to Executives in 
respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

The CEO sets the KPIs for other members of staff, monitors actual performance and may recommend payment 
of short-term bonuses to certain employees to the Board for approval. 

Shareholding Qualifications 

The Directors are not required to hold any shares in MyFiziq under the terms of the Company’s constitution. 

Consequences of Company Performance on Shareholder Wealth 

In considering the Company’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board provide the following 
indices in respect of the current financial year: 

 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 

Loss for the period attributable to 
shareholders 

$5,396,512 $4,357,162 $13,919,468 $2,189,609 $2,040,653 

Closing share price on 30 June $0.17 $0.17 $0.375 $0.065 $0.062 

 

Remuneration Disclosures 

Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Company have been identified as: 

Mr Peter Wall Non-Executive Chairman  

Mr Vlado Bosanac Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer  

Mr Michael Melby Non-Executive Director 

Mr Nick Prosser Non-Executive Director 

Mr Steven Richards Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

The details of the remuneration of each Director and member of Key Management Personnel of the Company 
are as follows: 

30 June 2020 

Short Term 
Post-

Employment    

Base Salary 
and 

Consulting 
Fees 

$ 

Short 
Term 

Incentive 

$ 

Superannuation 
Contributions 

$ 

Value of 
Share-based 
Payments) 1 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Proportion 
Performance 

Related 

% 

Directors and Key Management Personnel: 

P Wall  60,000 - - - 60,000 - 

V Bosanac  270,000 - 25,650 - 295,650 - 

M Melby  36,000 - - 270,000 306,000 - 

N Prosser  36,000 - 3,420 270,000 309,420 - 

S Richards 2 136,364 - 12,955 - 149,319 - 

Total 538,364 - 42,025 540,000 1,120,389 - 

 
1 Shares issued to Mr Michael Melby and Nick Prosser were approved at the Company’s 2019 Annual 
General Meeting.  The fair value of shares is based on the market value of the shares at the date of issue. 
2 Appointed 2nd September 2019. Mr Richards’ salary package on 6 July 2020 was $219,000 per annum.  

 

 

30 June 2019 

Short Term 
Post-

Employment    

Base Salary 
and 

Consulting 
Fees 

$ 

Short 
Term 

Incentive 

$ 

Superannuation 
Contributions 

$ 

Value of 
Share-based 
Payments) 1 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Proportion 
Performance 

Related 

% 

Directors and Key Management Personnel: 

P Wall  60,000 - - - 60,000  

V Bosanac  270,000 - 25,650 - 295,650  

M Melby  36,000 - - 340,000 376,000  

N Prosser  36,000 - 3,420 - 39,420  

Total 402,000 - 29,070 340,000 771,070  

 
1 Shares issued to Mr Michael Melby were approved at the Company’s 2018 Annual General Meeting.  The 
fair value of shares is based on the market value of the shares at the date of issue. 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

Details of Short-Term Performance Related Remuneration 

There have been no Short-Term Incentive payments made to Directors or Key Management Personnel of the 
Company during the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

 

Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 

Options 
Granted as Remuneration 
There were no options over unissued shares issued to Directors or Key Management Personnel of the Company 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2020.  

Exercised during the year  
There were no ordinary shares issued during the financial year on the exercise of options previously granted as 
remuneration to Directors or Key Management Personnel of the Company.  

Options forfeited/lapsed during the year 
No options granted as compensation in the current and/or prior years were forfeited / lapsed.  

Option holdings 
No options have been issued, exercised or held by Key Management Personnel during or since the end of the 
financial year ended 30 June 2020. 
 

Performance shares  
Key Management Personnel have the following interests in Class A and Class B performance shares of the 
Company. 

2020 
 
 

Name 

Balance at 
start of the 

year 

Received during 
the year as 

remuneration 

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at the 
end of the year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year 

P Wall - - - - - 

V Bosanac - - - - - 

M Melby - - - - - 

N Prosser - - - - - 

S Richards - - - - - 

 

During the financial year, 30,000,000 Performance Shares (15,000,000 Class A and 15,000,000 Class B) were 
cancelled due to performance milestones not being met within the stipulated timeframe.   

 

Performance Rights 
Each performance right entitles the holder the right to acquire one ordinary share subject to satisfaction of 
vesting criteria.   

Granted as Remuneration 
No performance rights were granted as compensation during the year. 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

 

Exercised during the year 
The following performance rights held by Mr Vlado Bosanac were exercised during the year: 

No of 
Rights 

Grant Date Expiry 
Date 

Fair Value 
per Right  

Vesting Criteria (the first to occur of): 

2,000,000 03.03.2017 03.03.2020 $0.72 
1) 100,000 users or $1m annualised revenue; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.40 

 

The following performance rights held by Mr Peter Wall were exercised during the year: 

No of 
Rights 

Grant Date Expiry 
Date 

Fair Value 
per Right 1 

Vesting Criteria (the first to occur of): 

2,000,000 29.11.2017 30.11.2019 $0.72 
1) 31 December 2017; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.20 

2,000,000 29.11.2017 30.11.2019 $0.72 
1) 30 June 2018; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.30 

2,000,000 29.11.2017 30.11.2019 $0.72 
1) 31 December 2018; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.40 

 

Forfeited/lapsed during the year 
No performance rights granted as compensation in the current and/or prior years were forfeited / lapsed.  

Performance Rights holdings 
Performance rights held by Mr Vlado Bosanac on 30 June 2020 and at the date of this report are: 

No of 
Rights 

Grant Date Expiry 
Date 

Fair Value 
per Right 1 

Vesting Criteria (the first to occur of): 

2,000,000 03.03.2017 03.03.2021 $0.72 
1) 200,000 users or $2.5m annualised revenue; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.50 

2,000,000 03.03.2017 03.03.2022 $0.72 
1) 250,000 users or $5m annualised revenue; and 
2) The 10-day VWAP equal to or greater than $0.60 

 
1 Company share price on 29 November 2017, being the date the rights were revalued due to a change in the 
terms of the performance-based criteria as approved by Shareholders at the Company’s 2017 Annual General 
meeting. 
 
The movement for the year in performance rights held by Directors is: 

2020 
 
 

Name 

Balance at 
start of 

the year 

Received 
during the 

year as 
remuneration 

Exercised 
during the 

year  

Other 
changes 

during the 
year 

Balance at the 
end of the 

year 

Vested and 
exercisable at 
the end of the 

year 

P Wall 6,000,000 - 6,000,000 - - - 

V Bosanac 6,000,000 - 2,000,000 - 4,000,000 4,000,000 
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Remuneration Report (continued) 

 
Share holdings 
The number of shares in the Company held during the financial period by key management personnel of the 
Company, including their related parties are set out below. During the reporting period, 1,000,000 shares each 
were granted to Michael Melby and Nicholas Prosser under their contract for services.  

2020 
 

Name 
Balance at start of 

the year 

Received during 
the year as 

remuneration 
Other changes 

during the year  
Balance at the 

end of the year 

P Wall 2,500,000 - 6, 200,000 8, 700,000 

V Bosanac 1 4,391,864 - 1,000,000 5,391,864 

M Melby 1,000,000 1,000,000 - 2,000,000 

N Prosser 2 4,503,582 1,000,000 1,000,000 6,503,582 

S Richards - - - - 

 

1 Other changes during the year includes shares issued on the exercise of performance rights to Peter Wall and 
Vlado Bosanac, less shares disposed of and acquired in off-market transfers.   
  
Loans made to key management personnel 

No loans were made to key personnel, including personally related entities during the reporting period. 
 
Loans received from key management personnel 

The Company has a convertible loan facility with Prosser Enterprises Pty Ltd as Trustee for the Prosser Family 
Trust. Company director, Mr Nicholas Prosser, is a shareholder and director of Prosser Enterprises Pty Ltd. The 
maximum facility limit of the loan is $2m and interest accrues daily on each advance at a rate of 8% per annum. 
The termination date of 31 December 2019 was extended to 30 June 2020, and any advances plus accrued 
interest that have not yet been repaid will be convertible into shares at an issue price equal to the greater of 
$0.30 per share or the 14 trading day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX 
prior to the termination date. Drawdowns against this facility of $500k and accrued and unpaid interest at 30 
June 2020 of $28,436 (2019: $58,125) were converted to shares on 30 June 2020 at a price of 30 cents per share. 
 
In January 2020, the Company received an unsecured short-term loan of $250,000 from Pheakes Pty Ltd, a 
company associated with director Mr Peter Wall. The loan attracted interest at a rate of 10% per annum. A 
further loan of $250,000 with similar terms was received in February 2020. The loan and accrued interest was 
repaid in full in June 2020.  
 
Other transactions with key management personnel 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Company paid $26,156 (2019: $10,676) to Steinepreis Paganin, 
an entity associated with Mr Peter Wall, for legal services.  At 30 June 2020, a further $10,622 was owing to 
Steinepreis Paganin (2019: nil). 

End of Remuneration Report 
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

A copy of the Auditor’s Independence Declaration as required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act is set 
out on the following page. 
 
 
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
DATED at Perth this 29th day of September 2020. 
 

 

 

Vlado Bosanac 

Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 



 
 
 

 

Level 4, 35 Havelock Street, West Perth, WA 6005 
PO Box 609, West Perth, WA 6872 
T: +61 8 9426 8999  F: +61 8 9426 8900  www.pkfperth.com.au 
 
PKF Perth is a member firm of the PKF International Limited family of legally independent firms and does not accept any responsibility or liability for the 
actions or inactions of any individual member or correspondent firm or firms. 
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PKF Perth 

 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF MYFIZIQ LIMITED 

 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of MyFiziq Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
 

 

 

PKF PERTH 
 

 

SIMON FERMANIS 
PARTNER 
 
29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
WEST PERTH, 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
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 Note Year Ended 
30 June 

2020 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2019 
  $ $ 

Revenue    
Recurring  139,858 4,645 
On Demand  32 - 

    
Other Income    

Other income 3 527,293 893,820 
Interest income  14 91 

Total revenue  667,197 898,556 

    
Expenses    

Employee expenses 3 (3,899,432) (3,823,885) 
Consulting and advisory  (87,924) (299,472) 
Corporate  (332,583) (296,899) 
Brand development and patent costs  (215,297) (263,810) 
Marketing and publicity  (1,052,672) (67,934) 
Travel and accommodation  (317,265) (233,943) 
Telecommunications & IT  (140,710) (120,694) 
Occupancy costs  (63,956) (133,882) 
Financing costs  (143,582) (136,603) 
Realised foreign exchange losses  (1,135) - 
Amortisation and depreciation expense  (245,645) (199,570) 
Administration and other expenses  (229,726) (210,668) 

Total expenses  (6,729,927) (5,787,360) 

    
Loss before income tax  (6,062,730) (4,888,804) 
    
Income tax benefit 4 666,218 531,642 

    
Net loss for the year   (5,396,512) (4,357,162) 
    
Other comprehensive income  - - 

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
members 

 
 

(5,396,512) (4,357,162) 

 

Loss per share  Cents cents 
Basic and diluted loss per share 5 (5.16) (5.16) 

 

The notes to the financial statements form part of this Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 

Income. 
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 Note 30 June 2020 30 June 2019 
  $ $ 

Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 7 627,304 573,977 
Trade and other receivables 8 294,122 25,427 
Prepayments 9 294,568 - 
Inventories 10 4,734 4,761 

Total current assets  1,220,728 604,165 
    
Non-current assets    
Other financial assets 11 37,500 37,500 
Right-of-use asset 12 175,992 - 
Property, plant and equipment 13 78,295 56,083 
Loans to related entities 25 68,500 482,201 
Development asset at cost 14 1,373,492 1,451,148 

Total non-current assets  1,733,779 2,026,932 
    
Total assets  2,954,507 2,631,097 
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 785,939 345,996 
Employee leave liabilities 16 312,463 239,346 
Interest bearing borrowings 17 865,000 1,496,959 
Lease liabilities 18 68,144 - 

Total current liabilities  2,031,546 2,082,301 
    
Non-current liabilities    
Interest bearing borrowings 17 322,331 - 
Lease liabilities 18 138,124 - 

Total non-current liabilities  460,455 - 
    
Total liabilities  2,492,001 2,082,301 
    

 
Net Assets 

  
462,506 

 
548,796 

    
Equity    
Issued capital 19 24,355,213 13,782,565 
Reserves  4,576,829 9,929,789 
Accumulated losses  (28,469,536) (23,163,558) 
    

 
Total Equity 

  
462,506 

 
548,796 

    

 

The notes to the financial statements form part of this Statement of Financial Position. 
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 Issued 
capital 

Accumulated 
losses 

Equity 
compensation 

reserve 

Convertible 
note 

 reserve 

Total  

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      
At 1 July 2018 7,212,356 (18,806,396) 12,262,363 27,633 695,956 
      
Net loss for the year - (4,357,162) - - (4,357,162) 
Other comprehensive income - - - - - 

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year 

- (4,357,162) - - (4,357,162) 

      
Capital raising 3,200,000 - - - 3,200,000 
Costs of capital raising (231,541) - - - (231,541) 
Exercise of Performance Rights 3,261,750 - (3,261,750) - - 
Share-based payments      

Suppliers - - 34,741 - 34,741 
Directors 340,000 - - - 340,000 
Employees - - 866,802 - 866,802 

 
At 30 June 2019 

13,782,565 (23,163,558) 9,902,156 27,633 548,796 

 

 Issued 
capital 

Accumulated 
losses 

Equity 
compensation 

reserve 

Convertible 
note 

 reserve 

Total  

 $ $ $ $ $ 

      
At 1 July 2019 13,782,565 (23,163,558) 9,902,156 27,633 548,796 
      
Net loss for the year - (5,396,512) - - (5,396,512) 
Other comprehensive income      

Total comprehensive loss for the 
year 

- (5,396,512) - - (5,396,512) 

      
Capital raising 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 
Costs of capital raising (123,000) - - - (123,000) 
Performance Rights and Options 
exercised 

6,262,369 - (6,166,243) - 96,126 

Options expired  90,534 (90,534) - - 
Performance shares expired (300) - - - (300) 
Conversion of convertible notes 1,337,079 - - (27,633) 1,309,446 
Share-based payments      

Suppliers 556,500 - 396,919 - 953,419 
Directors 540,000 - - - 540,000 
Employees - - 534,531 - 534,531 

 
At 30 June 2020 

24,355,213 (28,469,536) 4,576,829 - 462,506 

 

The notes to the financial statements form part of this Statement of Changes in Equity. 
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Note 

 
Year Ended 

30 June 2020 

 
Year Ended 

30 June 2019 
  $ $ 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  153,291 579,876 
Other income  663,624 51,553 
Research & Development tax incentive and EDMG 
grant 

  
666,218 

 
598,699 

Interest received  14 - 
Interest and other costs of finance paid  (53,472) (20,559) 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (4,126,939) (4,468,370) 

Net cash flows used in operating activities 7 (2,697,264) (3,258,801) 

    
Cash flows from investing activities   

 
 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (62,372) (43,565) 
Payments for application development costs  (103,810) (48,633) 
Loans to related party  81,500 (150,000) 
Payments for investments  - - 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (84,682) (242,198) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from borrowings  1,612,331 1,350,000 
Repayment of borrowings  (698,000) (450,000) 
Repayment of lease liabilities 18 (4,923) - 
Proceeds from the issue of shares  2,050,000 3,200,000 
Payments for share issue costs  (123,000) (196,800) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  2,836,408 3,903,200 

    
Net decrease in cash assets  54,462 402,201 
    
Cash at the beginning of the financial year  573,977 171,776 
    

 
Cash at the end of the financial year 
   Unrealised foreign currency losses  
Cash at the bank as per the balance sheet 
 

 
7 

 
628,439 
(1,135) 

627,304 

 
573,977 

- 
573,977 

    

 

 

The notes to the financial statements form part of this Statement of Cash Flows. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

(a) Basis of preparation of financial report 

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and comply with other requirements of the law. 

The Company is a for profit entity. A wholly owned subsidiary, MyFiziq Inc. was incorporated in January 2018 in 
the United States of America in preparation for the commercialisation of the technology in the USA. The 
subsidiary was inactive during the period, and as a result, consolidated financial statements have not been 
prepared. 

The accounting policies below have been consistently applied to all of the periods presented unless otherwise 
stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except for available for sale investments and derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair 
value. Cost is based on the fair values of consideration given in exchange for assets. The financial report of the 
Company was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors on 23rd September 2020. 

(i) Going Concern 
These financial statements have been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and discharge of liabilities in the normal course of 
business. 

For the year ended 30 June 2020, the Company incurred an operating loss of $5,396,512. Notwithstanding the 
fact that the Company incurred an operating loss and a net cash outflow from operating activities amounting to 
$2,697,265, the Directors are of the opinion that the Company is a going concern for the following reasons: 

 MyFiziq is transitioning to “growth” phase and commercialising operations, courtesy of the twelve binding 
term sheets that it has executed with partners across its five business verticals, Each partner is expected to 
launch the MyFiziq technology (which becomes embedded in the partner’s app) and this is anticipated to 
generate significant revenue and bring the Company to breakeven point within the next 6 to 12 months. 

 Following the execution of a formal funding agreement for USD$1.5 million with Asia cornerstone Asset 
Management (ACAM) on 1 June 2020, the Company had accumulated over $1.8 million in cash facilities by 
the end of June 2020 and had cash at bank of $627,127.  Under the terms of the agreement, USD$1,125,000 
had been received by 21 August 2020 and a further USD375,000 is expected to be paid by the end of October 
2020. 

 Additionally, at the reporting date the Company was already in an advanced stage of raising a further 
USD$1.5 million (over and above the USD$1.5 million secured with ACAM) as part of its expansion into the 
US and listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market. 

 COVID-19 has not had any material adverse financial effects on the Company, as announced on the ASX 
platform on 30 March 2020 and 29 June 2020. Furthermore, as announced to the ASX platform on 30 June 
2020, the Company had made significant progress over the period 1 March 2020 to 30 June 2020 (“COVID 
period”) and had experienced an increase in demand for its technology, driven by global health concerns. 
In addition, the Company has managed to strengthen its balance sheet over the COVID period as follows:  

(i) By securing the ACAM funding of USD1,500,000 of which USD1,125,000 had already been received 
by 6 August 2020. 

(ii) By reducing convertible note debt in the amount of $1,387,078 by way of share conversion. By 
reducing cash burn (operating overheads) by 49% over the COVID-19 period, and with the ability to 
defer a minimum of $3.34 million in planned spending if required to do so. 

(iii) By receiving over $1,063,624 in collectables from its JV partner, Body Composition Technologies 
Pty Ltd, from 1 April 2020 to 6 August 2020, for work carried out on partner builds and integrations, 
as well as license fees owing. 

 The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and meet future working capital requirements is 
dependent on the above points being realised. Should the Company not be successful in generating the 
required cash flows, there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(a) Basis of preparation of financial report (continued) 

(i) Going Concern (continued) 

 The Company successfully executed a $600,000 research and development (“R & D”) advance with R&D 
Capital Partners Pty Ltd for an R & D tax incentive payment that is expected to be received in relation to the 
2020 financial year (2019: $666,218). 

 
(ii) Statement of Compliance 
The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards, which include Australian Equivalents to 
International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS), in their entirety. Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the 
financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) in their entirety.  

Material accounting policies adopted in the presentation of these financial statements are presented below. 

 
(iii) New Accounting Standards adopted in the current year 

Application of New and Revised Accounting Standards 

The Company has adopted all the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by 
the Australian Accounting Standards Board (“AASB”) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 

Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not 
been early adopted by the Company for the reporting year ended 30 June 2020. 

The following Accounting Standards and interpretations are most relevant to the Company: 

AASB 16 Leases 

AASB 16 Leases supersedes AASB 117 Leases.  The new standard removes the former distinction between 
‘operating and ‘finance’ leases and requires recognition of a right-of-use asset (the leased item) and a financial 
liability (to pay rentals) on the Statement of Financial Position. The exceptions are short-term leases and leases 
of low value assets. 

The Company leases its office premises which, prior to the application of AASB 16, was treated as an operating 
lease and payments made were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  For 
the first half of the reporting period, the office lease was renewed on a monthly basis and as such, the Company 
has applied the optional exemptions to not capitalise this lease and instead account for the lease expense on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. An amount of $45,390 has been expensed in relation to the short-term 
lease for the 6 months ending 31 December 2019. 

On 1 January 2020, the Company entered a 3-year lease for office premises which is accounted for under AASB 
16. The Company has recognised a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the commencement date.  
Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and the finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit 
or loss over the lease period to produce a consistent period rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period.  Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease 
(or the useful life of the leased asset if this is shorter). Depreciation starts on commencement date of the lease.  
For classification within the statement of cash flows, the interest portion is disclosed in operating activities and 
the principal portion of the lease payments is separately disclosed in financing activities.  

New accounting policies adopted for the first time during this reporting period in relation to operating leases are 
disclosed in notes 1(l) and 1(o). Further information on the Right of use Asset and the Lease liability can be found 
in notes 11 and 18 respectively. 

 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations Not Yet Mandatory or Early Adopted 

The AASB has issued new and amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have mandatory 
application date for future reporting periods.  

There are no material new or amended Accounting Standards which will materially affect the Company. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(b) Income tax 

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.  

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at reporting date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and 
it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which 
the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be 
utilised, except: 

 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred 
income tax asset to be utilised.  

Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the balance date. 

Income taxes relating to items recognised directly in equity are recognised in equity and not in the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity 
and the same taxation authority. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(c) Goods and services tax 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).  In these circumstances the 
GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows 
arising from investing and financing activities that are recoverable from or payable to the ATO are classified as 
operating cash flows. 

(d) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other than goodwill 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset’s value in 
use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part of 
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease). 

An assessment is also made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the estimate used to determine the assets recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was 
recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That 
increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in previous years. Such reversal is recognised in profit or 
loss unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase. 
After such reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate the assets revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life. 

(e) Impairment of financial assets 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Company makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of its fair value less 
costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate 
cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets and the asset's value 
in use cannot be estimated to be close to its fair value. In such cases the asset is tested for impairment as part 
of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is considered impaired and is written down 
to its recoverable amount. 

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. Impairment losses relating to continuing operations are recognised in those expense categories consistent 
with the function of the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at revalued amount (in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease).  
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(f) Intangible assets 

An intangible asset arising from externally acquired intellectual property and development expenditure on an 
internal project is recognised only when the Company can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or 
sell the asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete 
the development and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 
its development. Following the initial recognition, the cost model is applied requiring the asset to be carried at 
cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The amortisation method and useful life of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the 
expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation 
method or period. 

The following useful life is used in the calculation of amortisation: 

Development asset at cost  10 years 

 
(g) Revenue and other income 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when 
performance obligations under customer contracts are satisfied.  

1. Revenue from customers 

The Company’s primary revenue stream is software development kits provided to customers by way of a license 
agreement (for the use MyFiziq’s intellectual property) and charged to our customer’s end-users on a per user 
or per body scan basis.   

The Company also has secondary revenue streams including: 

 Integration fees 

 Licence fees 

 Other application development and support fees 

i) Identification of distinct elements and separate performance obligations  
 

Primary revenue streams 

Revenue is generated from the usage by end-users of MyFiziq’s software development kits, which have been 
integrated into a customer’s platform. Most contracts will be structured on a monthly recurring basis and have 
a minimum term of 1 year.  

 Per user - Revenue is charged per subscribed user, where per user price reduces based on the 
volume of users.  

 Per body scan - The customer is charged when an image is captured by an end-user. 

Secondary revenue streams 

These services can be provided at any point in time over the life of the contract and are usually a one off, or a 
series of one-off events.  
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(g) Revenue and other income (continued) 

ii. Revenue recognition under AASB 15 

Revenue Stream Performance Obligation Timing of Recognition 

Software development kits - per 
user 

Integration of the MyFiziq 
software development kits into 
the customer’s platform, a 
performance obligation is 
triggered when an end-user 
subscribes (to the customer’s 
platform) 

Over the life of the agreement 
between our customer and the 
end-user, as the end-user 
simultaneously receives and 
consumes the benefits of 
accessing the software 

Software development kits - per 
body scan 

Integration of the MyFiziq 
software development kits into 
the customer’s platform, a 
performance obligation is 
triggered each time an image is 
captured by the end-user 

Recognised over time, but 
because time delivered is minimal, 
point in time recognition has been 
applied 

Secondary revenue streams As defined in the contract, either 
at the start of the service or as 
requested by the customer over 
the life of the contract 

Recognised over time, but 
because time delivered is minimal, 
point in time recognition has been 
applied 

 

2.  Other income 

Revenue recognised in any period is based on the delivery of performance obligations and an assessment of 
when control is transferred to the customer.  Revenue is recognised either when the performance obligation has 
been performed, or over time as control of the performance obligation is transferred to the customer. 

3. Interest received 

Interest income is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Company and the 
amount of revenue can be reliably measured. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax. 

 
(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and in hand. Cash 
equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents 
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. 
 
(i) Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables, which generally have 30–90-day terms, are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance for doubtful debts is made when there is objective 
evidence that the Company will not be able to collect the debts. Bad debts are written off when identified. 
 
(j) Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Net realisable value represents the estimated 
selling price less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(k) Property, Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.   
The carrying amount of plant and equipment is reviewed annually to ensure it is not more than the recoverable 
amount from these assets. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 

Class of Asset Useful Life 

Office Equipment 3 – 5 years 

Furniture & Fixtures 5 – 7 years 

The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
each financial year end. 
 
(l) Right-of-use Assets 

A right-of-use asset is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The right-of-use asset is measured at 
cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for, as applicable, any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs incurred, 
and, except where included in the cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be incurred for 
dismantling and removing the underlying asset, and restoring the site or asset.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the Group expects to obtain ownership of the 
leased asset at the end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated useful life. Right-of use assets 
are subject to impairment or adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. 

The Company has elected not to recognise a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability for short-term 
leases with terms of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. Lease payments on these assets are 
expensed to profit or loss as incurred. 

 
(m) Investments in equity-accounted investees 

The Company’s interest in equity-accounted investees comprise an interest in a joint venture. A joint venture is 
an arrangement in which the Company has joint control, whereby the Company has rights to the net assets of 
the arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and obligations for its liabilities. 

Interests in the joint venture are accounted for using the equity method. The interest is initially recognised at 
cost, which includes transaction costs.  After initial recognition, the financial statements include the Company’s 
share of the profit or loss of equity-accounted investees, until the date on which joint control ceases. 
 
(n) Trade and other payables 

Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised costs and represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial period that are unpaid and arise when the Company 
becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods and services. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
(o) Lease liabilities 

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at 
the present value of the lease payments to be made over the term of the lease, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing 
rate. Lease payments comprise of fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments 
that depend on an index or a rate, amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise price 
of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is reasonably certain to occur, and any anticipated 
termination penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are expensed in the 
period in which they are incurred. 

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The carrying amounts are 
remeasured if there is a change in the following: future lease payments arising from a change in an index or a 
rate used; residual guarantee; lease term; certainty of a purchase option and termination penalties. When a lease 
liability is remeasured, an adjustment is made to the corresponding right-of use asset, or to profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is fully written down. 
 
(p) Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 
options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Performance shares are classified as equity and are convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of the Company 
on successful achievement of certain predetermined key performance indicators. Refer to note 19 for details of 
key performance indicators applying to performance shares currently on issue. 
 
(q) Share-based Payments 

Equity Settled Transactions: 

The Company provides benefits to employees (including senior executives) of the Company in the form of share-
based payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled 
transactions). 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value of Options is determined by using an 
appropriate valuation model.  Share rights are valued at the underlying market value of the ordinary shares over 
which they are granted. 

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the underlying Shares (market conditions) if applicable. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting period). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date 
reflects: 
(i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; and 
(ii) the Company’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.  

No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market performance conditions being met as the effect of these 
conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. The income statement charge or credit for 
a period represents the movement in cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is only 
conditional upon a market condition. 
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Note 1  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

(q) Share-based Payments (continued) 
 

If the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had 
not been modified. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total fair value 
of the share-based payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee, as measured at the date 
of modification. 

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, the cumulative expense recognised in respect of that award is transferred 
from its respective reserve to accumulated losses. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award 
and designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled award and new awards are 
treated as if they were a modification of the original award, as described in the previous paragraph. 

(r) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial reports requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expense.  Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. 

Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic 

Judgement has been exercised in considering the impacts that the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic has had, or may 
have, on the consolidated entity based on known information. This consideration extends to the nature of the products 
and services offered, customers, supply chain, staffing and geographic regions in which the consolidated entity operates. 
Other than as addressed in specific notes, there does not currently appear to be either any significant impact upon the 
financial statements or any significant uncertainties with respect to events or conditions which may impact the 
consolidated entity unfavourably as at the reporting date or subsequently as a result of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) 
pandemic. 

Estimation of useful life of assets 

The Company determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its 
finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovation or some 
other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than 
previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will 
be written off or written down. 

Capitalisation of internally developed software 

Distinguishing the research and development phases of a new customised software project and determining 
whether the recognition requirements for the capitalisation of development costs are met requires judgement. 
After capitalisation, management monitors whether the recognition requirements continue to be met and 
whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired. Management is required to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions for the Net Present Value model which supports the carrying value of 
the software, its useful life and its amortisation rate. 

Share-based Payments 

The Company measures the cost of cash-settled share-based payments at fair value using the Black-Scholes 
model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments were granted, as well as 
estimates made by management. 

Determination of incremental borrowing rate 

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, an estimate of the Company’s incremental borrowing rate is used. 

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, where possible recent third-party financing received is used as a 
starting point and adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received.  If 
there was no recent third-party financing agreement, a build-up approach is used that starts with a risk-free 
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for the lessee and any further relevant adjustments specific to the lease. 
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Note 2  Segment Information 

Currently, the Company’s sole activity is mobile application and technology development wholly within Australia, 
therefore it has aggregated all operating segments into the one reportable segment being technological 
development. 

 

  
2020 

 
2019 

 $ $ 

Note 3  Revenue and Expenses 

Loss for the period includes the following specific income and 
expenses: 

  

Income:   
Dr Katherine consultancy income 19,105 31,595 
Grant income  80,000 67,057 
Proof of concept income - 50,000 
Joint venture income 420,839 743,614 
Other income 7,349 1,554 

 
 

527,293 893,820 

   
Supplier share-based payment 1,2 953,419 34,741 

   
Employee expenses:   

Salaries and wages 2,489,955 2,116,740 
Defined contribution superannuation 236,502 200,754 
Share-based payments expense 2 1,120,357 1,206,802 
Employment taxes and insurances 99,294 177,934 
Other employment expenses 97,324 121,655 
Government assistance (144,000) - 

   

 
 

3,899,432 3,823,885 

 
1 Options issued to suppliers under corporate advisory and investor relations consultancy agreements. 

2 The fair value of equity settled transactions with employees, directors and suppliers is apportioned over the 
period from grant date to vesting date. See Note 20 for details of transactions vesting within the financial year. 
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2020 
 

2019 
 $ $ 

 

Note 4  Income Tax 

a)  Income tax expense   
Current income tax:   

Current income tax charge (benefit) (527,876) (317,074) 
Current income tax not recognised 527,876 317,074 

Research and development tax concession (666,218) (531,642) 
Deferred income tax:   

Relating to origination and reversal of timing differences 1,889,890 1,929,986 
Deferred income tax benefit not recognised (1,889,890) (1,929,986) 

Income tax benefit reported in the Statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income 

(666,218) (531,642) 

 
 
b)  Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 
payable 

 
 

Loss from continuing operations before income tax 
expense (6,062,730) (4,888,804) 

   
Tax at the Australian rate of 25% (2019: 27.5%)  

 
(1,515,682) (1,344,421) 

Capital raising costs claimed (43,509) (52,166) 
Non-deductible expenses 118,321 109,372 
Impact of reduction of future corporate tax rate (151,569) - 
Research and development tax concession (666,218) (531,642) 
Unused tax losses and temporary differences not 
recognised as deferred tax assets 1,592,439 1,287,214 

 
Tax benefit 

(666,218) (531,642) 

 
 

c)  Deferred tax – Statement of Financial Position 
(unrecognised) 

  

Liabilities   
Accrued income (21,450) - 
Prepaid expenses (81,006) - 

 (102,456) - 

Assets   
Revenue losses available to offset against future taxable 
income 

 
1,805,745 

 
1,812,962 

Accrued expenses and leave provisions 121,337 79,980 
Deductible equity raising costs 65,264 37,044 

 1,992,346 1,929,986 

 
Net deferred tax asset 

1,889,890 1,929,986 
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Note 4  Income Tax (continued) 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised to the extent that they extinguish deferred tax liabilities of the 
Company as at the reporting date.  

Net deferred tax assets have not been recognised, in either reporting period, in respect of amounts in excess of 
deferred tax liabilities. 

 
The deferred tax benefit of tax losses not brought to account will only be obtained if: 
(i) The Company derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit 

from the tax losses to be realised; 
(ii) The Company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and 
(iii) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Company realising the benefit from the deduction of the 

losses. 
 

All unused tax losses were incurred by Australian entities. 
  

2020 
$ 

 
2019 

$ 

Note 5  Loss per Share 

a) Basic loss per share      
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (cents) (5.16) (5.16) 

 
b) Diluted loss per share      
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company (cents) (5.16) (5.16) 

   
c) Loss used in calculation of basic and diluted loss per share  

 
 
 

Loss after tax from continuing operations (5,396,512) (4,357,162) 

 
d) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator  

No. 
 

No. 
Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator in 
calculating basic and dilutive loss per share 

 
104,619,383 

 
84,454,765 

 

Note 6  Dividends 

No dividends were paid or proposed during the financial years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019. 
 
The Company has no franking credits available as at 30 June 2020 and 2019. 
 

Note 7  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

   
Cash at bank1 627,304 573,977 

 

1 Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily deposit rates. 
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2020 

$ 

 
2019 

$ 

Note 7  Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 

Reconciliation to the Statement of Cash Flows: 

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank 
and investments in money market instruments, net of any outstanding bank overdrafts. 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the 
Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

Cash and cash equivalents 627,304 573,977 

 

Non-cash financing and investing activities: 

There were no non-cash financing or investing activities during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.    

 

Cash balances not available for use: 

There are no amounts included in cash and cash equivalents not available for use as at 30 June 2020 (30 June 
2019: Nil). 

 
Reconciliation of loss after tax to net cash outflow from operating activities: 

 
Loss from ordinary activities after income tax 

 
(5,396,512) 

 
(4,357,162) 

Adjustments for non-cash items:   
Depreciation and amortisation 245,645 199,570 
Share-based payments expense 2,073,776 1,206,802 
Finance costs 90,110 116,043 
Unrealised foreign currency losses 1,135 - 

   
Movement in assets and liabilities:   

Decrease/(increase) in prepaid expenses (294,568) 61,966 
Decrease in inventories 27 27 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables (268,695) 108,524 
(Decrease)/increase in loans to other entities 332,201 (332,201) 
(Decrease)/increase in employee liabilities/provisions 73,117 (222,706) 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 446,500 (39,664) 

Net cash flow used in operating activities (2,697,264) (3,258,801) 
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2020 

$ 

 
2019 

$ 

Note 8  Trade and Other Receivables 

Current assets 

Trade receivables 209,979 5,109 
Accrued income 78,000 - 
GST receivable 6,143 20,318 

 
 

294,122 25,427 

 

Note 9  Prepayments 

Current assets 

Prepaid IPO costs 190,397 - 
Prepaid insurance 91,438 - 
Other prepayments 12,733 - 

 
 

294,568 - 

 

Note 10 Inventories 

Current assets 

Finished goods - at cost 4,734 4,761 

 

Note 11 Other Financial Assets 

Non-current assets 

Security Bonds and Deposits: 

Balance at the start of the financial year 37,500 37,500 
Security deposits (refunded)/paid during the financial year - - 

Balance at the end of the financial year 37,500 37,500 

A security deposit of $37,500 is in place in respect of the lease on the Company’s offices.  Refer Note 22. 

 

Note 12 Right of Use Assets 

Non-current assets 

Balance at the start of the financial year - - 
Additions - new operating leases 211,191  
Amortisation expense (35,199) - 

Balance at the end of the financial year 175,992 - 

The Company leases land and buildings for its offices in Perth, Australia under an agreement with a 3-year 
term. Refer Note 18. 
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Note 13 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Carrying values    
Office Equipment:   
Cost 123,963 114,096 
Depreciation (89,144) (61,648) 

 34,819 52,448 

Fixtures and fittings:   
Cost 13,524 13,524 
Depreciation (12,594) (9,889) 

 930 3,635 

Leasehold improvements   
Cost 51,055 - 
Depreciation (8,509) - 

 42,546 - 

 78,295 56,083 

Reconciliation of movements    
   
Office Equipment:   
Opening net book value 52,448 33,594 
Additions 9,867 43,983 
Depreciation (27,496) (25,129) 

Closing net book value 34,819 52,448 

   
Fixtures and fittings:   
Opening net book value 3,635 6,340 
Additions - - 
Depreciation (2,705) (2,705) 

Closing net book value 930 3,635 

   
Leasehold improvements   
Opening net book value - - 
Additions 51,055 - 
Depreciation (8,509) - 

Closing net book value 42,546 - 

 78,295 56,083 

 

No assets included in property, plant and equipment have been pledged as security in respect of liabilities. 
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Note 14 Development Asset 

Balance at the start of the financial year 1,451,248 1,560,388 
Application development costs incurred during the year 93,980 62,496 
Amortisation (171,736) (171,736) 

Balance at the end of the financial year 1,373,492 1,451,148 

The recoupment of costs carried forward in relation to intangible assets is dependent upon the successful 
development or commercial exploitation or sale of the application technology. 

 

Note 15 Trade and other payables 

Current liabilities 

Trade payables and other payables 343,603 101,057 
Accrued expenses 128,763 51,491 
Employment related payables 313,573 193,448 

 
 

785,939 345,996 

 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and normally settled on 30-day terms. See note 21 for financial 
instrument disclosures relating to trade and other payables. 

 

Note 16 Employee leave liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Annual leave liability 312,463 239,346 

 

  



 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020 
   

45 
 

 
 

 
2020 

$ 

 
2019 

$ 

Note 17 Interest bearing borrowings 

Current   
Convertible notes-Prosser Facility 1 - 539,042 
Convertible notes-2018 Facility 2 75,000 957,917 

Total convertible notes 3 75,000 1,496,959 
R&D tax prepayment loan 4 600,000 - 
Other loans 5 190,000 - 

 865,000 1,496,959 

   
Non-current   
Convertible notes-ACAM 6 322,331 - 

   

 

1  Convertible Note agreement with Prosser Enterprises Pty Ltd as Trustee for the Prosser Family Trust. Company 
director Mr Nicholas Prosser is a director and shareholder of Prosser Enterprises Pty Ltd.The maximum facility 
limit is $2 million and attracts interest at 8% per annum. Drawdowns against this facility of $500,000 and accrued 
and unpaid interest at 30 June 2020 of $28,436 (2019: $58,125) were converted to shares on 30 June 2020 at a 
price of 30 cents per share.  

2  Convertible Note facility entered into with a number of professional investors who are not related parties of 
the Company. The notes attract interest at 8% per annum. The investors may elect to redeem the outstanding 
principal amount of the notes in cash on the Maturity Date, rather than convert to shares.  If the investors don’t 
elect to redeem the outstanding principal amount in cash, the outstanding principal amount of the notes will be 
converted into shares at an issue price equal to the greater of $0.30 per share or a 30% discount to the volume 
weighted average price of the Company’s shares as traded on ASX for the period of 14 trading days up to and 
including the trading day prior to the conversion. At 30 June 2020, a total of $825,000 principal and accrued 
interest were converted to shares at a price of 30 cents per share.   

3 The carrying value of the convertible note as at 30 June 2020, based on a discount rate of 12%, is calculated as 
follows: 

 2020 
$ 

2019 
$ 

Balance at the start of the financial year 1,496,959 480,915 
Proceeds from drawdown - 900,000 
Amount classified as equity 27,633 - 
Interest accrued 85,487 116,044 
Principal and Interest repayments (198,000) - 
Converted to equity at $0.30 per share (1,337,079) - 

Balance at the end of the financial year 75,000 1,496,959 
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Note 17 Interest bearing borrowings (continued) 

4  On 29 May 2020,  the Company received a $600,000 R&D tax prepayment loan from R&D Capital Partners Pty 
Ltd:  The loan attracts interest at a rate of 1.15% per month and is due to be repaid on the earlier of the date 
the Company receives it 2020 tax refund from the Australian Taxation Office or 31 October 2020. The loan is 
secured by a lien on the Company’s 2020 R&D tax refund.   

5 Other loans are unsecured and interest bearing. These loans were repaid in full subsequent to the end of the 
financial year. 

6 The Company entered into a funding agreement for US$1,500,000 with Asia Cornerstone Asset Management 
(ACAM) by way of an unsecured convertible note which attracts interest at 10% per annum. The funds received 
will enable the Company to seek a dual listing of the Company’s securities on the NASDAQ Capital Market and 
for general working capital purposes.  The funding will be received in 4 tranches, with the first tranche of 
US$225,000 being received in the financial year.  The convertible note has a mandatory conversion upon 
successful NASDAQ listing.  On conversion, ACAM will be issued shares in the NASDAQ listed company at the 
greater of US$1.00 and a 25% discount to the price at which the Company issues shares in conjunction with the 
listing. In the event that the Company is not successful in attaining a listing on the NASDAQ on or prior to 30 
June 2021, the Company will have an additional 6 months to repay the convertible note. 

 

Note 18 Lease liabilities 

Current liability 68,144 - 
Non-current liability 138,124 - 

Balance at the end of the financial year 206,268 - 

 

Reconciliation of lease liabilities 

Balance at the beginning of the financial year - - 
Lease liability recognised - new operating lease 1 211,191  
Repayment of lease liability (4,923) - 

Balance at the end of the financial year 206,268 - 

 

1 The Company entered into a 3-year lease agreement for office premises in Perth, Australia. During the year, 
total payments under the lease amounting to $299,129 were discounted at the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate of 10% in order to determine the initial lease liability of $211,191. To determine the incremental 
borrowing rate, recent third-party financing received was used as a starting point and adjusted to reflect changes 
in financing conditions since the third-party financing was received. 

During the financial year, $21,119 interest on the lease was expensed as financing costs. 
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Note 19 Issued Capital and Reserves 

a) Ordinary shares 
The Company is a public company limited by shares, incorporated in Perth, Western Australia. The Company’s 
shares are limited whereby the liability of its members is limited to the amount (if any) unpaid on the shares 
respectively held by them. 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company 
in proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. On a show of hands every holder of 
ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll each share 
is entitled to one vote. 

Ordinary shares have no par value. There is no limit to the authorised share capital of the Company. There are 
no externally exposed capital requirements. 
 

  2020 2019 2020 2019 

  No. No. $ $ 

      
b) Share capital      
Issued capital-ordinary shares  114,392,923 91,621,888 24,355,213 13,782,265 
Issued capital-performance shares  - 30,000,000 - 300 

Issued share capital  114,392,923 121,621,888 24,355,213 13,782,565 

 
c) Share movements during the year – ordinary shares 

At the start of the financial year  91,621,888 79,038,555 13,782,265 7,212,056 
Shares issued on exercise of 
Performance Rights 

  
9,550,000 

 
6,250,000 

 
6,055,875 

 
3,261,750 

Shares issued on exercise of Options  730,769 - 206,494 - 
Shares issued to related party  2,000,000 1,000,000 540,000 340,000 
Share based payments  2,700,000 - 556,500 - 
Share issues - capital raising  3,333,334 5,333,333 2,000,000 3,200,000 
Shares issues – conversion of 
convertible notes 

  
4,456,932 

 
- 

 
1,337,079 

 
- 

Less share issue costs  - - (123,000) (231,541) 

  114,392,923 91,621,888 24,355,213 13,782,265 

 
d) Share movements during the year – performance shares 

At the start of the financial year  30,000,000 30,000,000 300 300 
Less expired shares 1  (30,000,000) - (300) - 

  - 30,000,000 - 300 

 

1 Performance Shares (15,000,000 Class A Performance Shares and 15,000,000 Class B Performance Shares) were 
cancelled due to performance milestones not being met within the stipulated timeframe. 
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Note 20 Share-based Payments 

(i) Options 

The Company has an Incentive Option Plan which was re-adopted following Shareholder approval in November 
2019. Options over unissued shares are issued at the discretion of the Board.   

a) Options granted, issued, exercised and lapsed during the year 

During the reporting period the following options were issued: 

Date granted Number of 

options granted 

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting 

Date 

Expiry date Fair value 

 $ 

27 Nov 2019 1,000,000 25 4 Dec 2019 4 Dec 2022 118,889 

27 Nov 2019 1,500,000 45 4 Jun 2020 4 Dec 2022 148,503 

27 Nov 2019 2,500,000 60 4 Dec 2020 4 Dec 2022 222,047 

24 Feb 2020 400,000 50 31 Jan 2021 31 Jan 2022 19,786 

Total 5,400,000     

During the reporting period the following options were cancelled: 

Date granted Number of 

options  

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting date Expiry date 

14 Dec 2018 150,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

14 Dec 2018 150,000 50 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

Total 300,000 

During the reporting period the following options vested, but were not exercised: 

Date granted Number of options 

Vested 

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting date Expiry date 

21 Dec 2016 500,000 10 26 Oct 2019 31 Dec 2021 

3 Sep 2018 400,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

14 Dec 2018 250,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

1 Feb 2019 400,000 65 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,000,000 25 4 Dec 2019 4 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,500,000 45 4 Jun 2020 4 Dec 2022 

Total 4,050,000 

During the reporting period the following options were exercised: 

Date granted Number of options 

exercised 

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting date Expiry date 

21 Dec 2016 1 1,000,000 20 30 Sept 2017 30 Sept 2020 

6 Apr 2018 500,000 10 6 Apr 2018 31 Dec 2020 

Total 1,500,000 

1 During the reporting period 1,000,000 options exercisable at 20 cents each and expiring 30 September 2020, 

were exercised utilising the cashless exercise provisions of the Option Incentive Scheme.  This resulted in the 

issue of 230,769 ordinary shares. 
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Note 20 Share-based Payments (continued) 

b) Options on issue at balance date 

The number of options outstanding over unissued ordinary shares at 30 June 2020 is 11,450,000 as follows: 

Date granted Number of options 

granted 

Exercise price 

(cents) 

Vesting date Expiry date 

21 Dec 2016 1,750,000 10 31 Dec 2017 31 Dec 2020 

21 Dec 2016 500,000 10 26 Oct 2018 31 Dec 2020 

21 Dec 2016 1,250,000 10 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2021 

21 Dec 2016 500,000 10 26 Oct 2019 30 Dec 2021 

31 Jul 2018 400,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

31 Jul 2018 400,000 50 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

7 Dec 2018 100,000 50 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

7 Dec 2018 100,000 50 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

1 Feb 2019 400,000 65 31 Dec 2019 31 Dec 2022 

1 Feb 2019 400,000 65 31 Dec 2020 31 Dec 2023 

12 Feb 2019 250,000 60 5 Mar 2019 20 Feb 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,000,000 25 4 Dec 2019 4 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 1,500,000 45 4 Jun 2020 4 Dec 2022 

27 Nov 2019 2,500,000 60 4 Dec 2020 4 Dec 2022 

24 Feb 2020 400,000 50 31 Jan 2021 31 Jan 2022 

Total 11,450,000 

 

During the current period the following movements in options over unissued shares occurred: 

  2020 2020 2019 2019 

  No. WAEP No WAEP 

      
Outstanding at 1 July  7,850,000 $0.251 10,000,000 $0.258 
Granted during the year  5,400,000 $0.486 6,350,000 $0.523 
Exercised during the year  (1,500,000) $0.167 - - 
Forfeited/cancelled during the year  (300,000) $0.500 (8,500,000) $0.462 

Outstanding at 30 June  11,450,000 $0.366 7,850,000 $0.251 

Exercisable at 30 June  7,650,000 $0.173 5,250,000 $0.143 

 
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was $0.10 to $0.65 (2019: $0.10 to 
$0.65). 
 
The weighted average contractual life for unexercised options is 23.4 months (2019: 13.1 months). 
 

c) Subsequent to balance date 

On 11 August 2020, 100,000 options with an exercise price of $0.50, vesting date of 31 January 2021 and an 

expiry date of 31 January 2022 were cancelled.    
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Note 20 Share-based Payments (continued) 

 

d) Basis and assumptions used in the valuation of options  

5,400,000 options were issued during the financial year and have been valued and expensed in the financial 
statements over the periods that they vest.  The share-based payments expense for the period of $544,113 
(2019: $194,372) relates to the fair value of options apportioned over their respective vesting periods. 

The options issued during the current reporting period were valued using the Black-Scholes option valuation 
methodology, as follows: 

Date 

granted 

Number of 

options 

granted 

Exercise 

price 

(cents) 

Expiry date Risk free 

interest rate 

used 

Volatility 

applied 

Value per 

Option 

(cents) 

27 Nov 2019 1,000,000 25 31 Dec 2022 0.77% 106% 11.89 

27 Nov 2019 1,500,000 45 31 Dec 2022 0.77% 106% 9.90 

27 Nov 2019 2,500,000 60 31 Dec 2022 0.77% 106% 8.88 

24 Feb 2020 400,000 50 31 Jan 2022 0.65% 100% 4.95 

Historical volatility at the time of issue has been used as the basis for determining expected share price volatility, 

as it is assumed that this is an indicator of future share price performance, which may not eventuate. A discount 

of 30% in respect of a lack of marketability has been applied to the Black-Scholes option valuation to reflect the 

non-negotiability and non-transferability of the unlisted options granted.  

 

e) Purpose of Equity Compensation Reserve 

This reserve is used to record the value of equity benefits provided to employees (including directors) and 

suppliers for services rendered. 
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Note 20 Share-based Payments (continued) 

 

(ii) Performance Rights 

The Company adopted an Incentive Performance Rights Plan Following Shareholder approval in February 2017.  

a) Performance rights granted, vested and lapsed during the year 

During the reporting period the following performance rights were granted: 

Grant Date No of 
Rights 

Expiry Date Fair Value 
per Right 
at Grant 

Date 

Vesting  

6 Sep 2019 50,000 31 Dec 2020 $0.157 Subject to performance criteria 

6 Sep 2019 5,000,000 4 Dec 2023 $0.265 Subject to performance criteria 

6 Sep 2019 1,250,000 28 Feb 2021 $0.182 Subject to performance criteria 

Total 6,300,000 

During the reporting period the following performance rights vested: 

Grant Date No of 
Rights 

Expiry Date Fair Value 
per Right 
at Grant 

Date 

Vesting  

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 30 Nov 2020 $0.185 30 Nov 2019 

6 Sep 2019 1 50,000 31 Dec 2020 $0.157 6 Sep 2019 

Total 1,050,000 

During the reporting period the following performance rights were exercised and converted to shares: 

Grant Date No of 
Rights 

Expiry Date Fair Value 
per Right 
at Grant 

Date 

Vesting  

29 Nov 2017 6,000,000 30 Nov 2019 $0.720 Subject to various performance criteria 

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 31 Dec 2019 $0.185 Subject to various performance criteria 

15 Nov 2017 500,000 31 Dec 2020 $0.205 Subject to various performance criteria 

6 Sep 2019 1 50,000 31 Dec 2020 $0.157 6 Sep 2019 

3 Mar 2017 2,000,000 3 Mar 2020 $0.720 Subject to various performance criteria 

Total 9,550,000 

 

During the reporting period no performance rights lapsed or were cancelled. 
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Note 20 Share-based Payments (continued) 

b) Performance rights on issue at balance date 

The number of performance rights outstanding over unissued ordinary shares at 30 June 2020 is as follows: 

Grant Date No of 
Rights 

Expiry Date Fair Value 
per Right 
at Grant 

Date 

Vesting  

03 Mar 2017 2,000,000 03 Mar 2021 $0.720 1 Vested 

03 Mar 2017 2,000,000 03 Mar 2022 $0.720 1 Vested 

15 Nov 2017 500,000 31 Dec 2020 $0.205 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 3,000,000 3 Sep 2021 $0.185 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 30 Nov 2020 $0.185 Vested 

3 Sep 2018 1,000,000 30 Nov 2020 $0.185 Vested 

6 Sep 2019 5,000,000 04 Dec 2023 $0.00 Subject to performance criteria 

6 Sep 2019 1,250,000 28 Feb 2021 $0.182 Subject to performance criteria 

Total 15,750,000 

 

c) Subsequent to balance date 

Subsequent to balance date no performance rights have been granted, exercised, expired or cancelled.   

 

d) Basis and assumptions used in the valuation of performance rights 

Performance rights were valued at the Company’s share price on the date of grant. 
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Note 21 Financial Instruments  

The Company has exposure to a variety of risks arising from its use of financial instruments. This note presents 
information about the Company’s exposure to the specific risks, and the policies and processes for measuring 
and managing those risks. The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the risk management 
framework and has adopted a Risk Management Policy.   
 
(a) Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 
to meet its contractual obligations and arises principally from transactions with customers and investments. 
 
Trade and other receivables 
The carrying amount recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowance for losses, represents the 
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
Cash deposits 
The Directors believe any risk associated with the use of predominantly only one bank is addressed through the 
use of at least an A-rated bank as a primary banker and by the holding of a portion of funds on deposit with 
alternative A-rated institutions. Except for this matter the Company currently has no significant concentrations 
of credit risk. 

The Directors do not consider that the Company’s financial assets are subject to anything more than a negligible 
level of credit risk, and as such no disclosures are made. 
 
(b) Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient 
liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.   

The Company manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its cash reserves and forecast spending. Management is 
cognisant of the future demands for liquid finance resources to finance the Company’s current and future 
operations, and consideration is given to the liquid assets available to the Company before commitment is made 
to future expenditure or investment. 
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Note 21 Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

Liquidity risk 
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments and 
excluding the impact of netting agreements: 
 

                 Weighted                            
average 

 interest rate 

Carrying 
amount 

Contractual 
cash flows 

6 months 
or less 

6-12 
months 

1-2 years 2-5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

 % $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

2020         
         
Trade and other 
payables 

 785,939 785,939 785,939  
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Convertible notes 9.6% 397,331 397,331 75,000 - 322,331 - - 
Interest bearing 
borrowings 

 
10.3% 

 
790,000 

 
790,000 

 
790,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Lease liabilities 10.0% 206,268 206,268 31,457 36,686 86,913 51,213 - 

  2,179,538 2,179,538 1,682,396 36,686 409,244 51,213 - 

 
2019 

        

         
Trade and other 
payables 

 
- 

 
345,996 

 
345,996 

 
345,996 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

Convertible notes 8% 1,496,959 - 1,496,959 - -   

  1,842,995 - 1,842,995 - - - - 

 
 
(c) Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity 
prices will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising any return. 

Interest rate risk 
The Company has cash assets which may be susceptible to fluctuations in changes in interest rates. Whilst the 
Company requires the cash assets to be sufficiently liquid to cover any planned or unforeseen future 
expenditure, which prevents the cash assets being committed to long term fixed interest arrangements; the 
Company does mitigate potential interest rate risk by entering into short to medium term fixed interest 
investments. 

Foreign exchange risk 
The Company is currently in the process of listing on the NASDAQ capital market and holds a portion of its cash 
assets in US dollar denominated bank accounts.  The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk through 
transactions in relation to the NASDAQ listing. 

The Company does not have any direct exposure to equity risk. 
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Note 21 Financial Instruments  
 

At the reporting date the interest profile of the Company’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 
 Carrying value ($) 

 30 June 2020 
$ 

30 June 2019 
$ 

 
Fixed rate instruments 

  

Financial assets 68,500 482,201 

   
Variable rate instruments   
Financial assets 627,304 573,977 

 
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments 
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity and 
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. 
 

 Profit or loss Equity 
 1% 1% 1% 1% 
 increase decrease increase decrease 

     
2020     
Variable rate instruments 6,273 (6,273) 6,273 (6,273) 

     
2019     
Variable rate instruments 5,740 (5,740) 5,740 (5,740) 

 
 

d) Fair values 

Fair values versus carrying amounts 
The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position are as follows: 

 2020 2019 
 Carrying 

amount 
Fair value Carrying 

amount 
Fair value 

 $ $ $   $ 

     
Cash and cash equivalents 627,804 627,804 573,977 573,977 
Trade and other receivables 294,122 294,122 25,427 25,427 
Loan to related party 68,500 68,500 482,201 482,201 
Trade and other payables (785,939) (785,939) (345,996) (345,996) 
Interest bearing borrowings (1,187,331) (1,187,331) (1,496,759) (1,496,759) 
Lease liabilities (206,268) (206,268) - - 

 
Net financial (liabilities) / assets 

(1,189,112) (1,189,112) (761,150) (761,150) 

 

e) Impairment losses 

The Directors do not consider that any of the Company’s financial assets are subject to impairment at the 
reporting date.  

No impairment expense or reversal of impairment charge has occurred during the reporting period. 
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Note 22 Commitments 

a) Operating lease commitments: 

The Company’s lease for its principal place of business at Unit 5, 71-73 South Perth Esplanade in Western 
Australia (Lease) expired on 30.6.2019.   The office premises were leased on a month by month basis until a 
new lease was entered into on 1 January 2020.  The new lease is accounted for under new accounting standard 
AASB 16 Leases. Refer to notes 11 and 18. 

The Lease was secured by a cash bond in favour of the Landlord for the amount of $37,500 and this amount is 
being held and will be applied as bond for the new lease. 

 

b) Finance lease commitments: 

The Company has no finance lease commitments contracted for as at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: Nil). 

 

c) Capital commitments 

The Company has no capital commitments contracted for as at 30 June 2020 (30 June 2019: Nil): 

 

d) Other commitments 

The Company has entered into an agreement with Lucosky Brookman for the provision of US$200,000 legal 

services in relation to the listing of the Company on the NASDAQ Capital Market. 

 

Note 23 Contingencies 

a) Contingent liabilities 

There are no material contingent liabilities at the reporting date. 

 
b) Contingent assets 

There are no material contingent assets at the reporting date. 

 

Note 24  Key Management Personnel  
(a) Directors and key management personnel 

The following persons were directors of MyFiziq Limited during the current financial year: 

Mr Peter Wall  Non-Executive Chairman 
Mr Vlado Bosanac Executive Director and CEO 
Mr Mike Melby  Non-Executive Director (appointed 27 October 2017) 
Mr Nick Prosser  Non-Executive Director (appointed 18 April 2018) 
Mr Steven Richards Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary (appointed 2 September 2019) 
 
There were no other persons employed by or contracted to the Company during the financial year, having 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company, either directly or indirectly.  
 
  



 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

For the financial year ended 30 June 2020 
   

57 
 

 

Note 24  Key Management Personnel (continued) 
 

 (b) Key management personnel compensation 
  
 Details of key management personnel remuneration are contained in the Audited Remuneration Report in the 

Directors’ Report. A summary of total compensation paid to key management personnel during the year is as 
follows: 

   
Year ended 

30 June 2020 

 
Year ended 

30 June 2019 
 $ $ 

   
Total short-term employment benefits 538,364 402,000 
Total share-based payments 540,000 340,000 
Total post-employment benefits 42,025 29,070 

 
 

1,120,389 771,070 

 

Note 25 Related Party Disclosures 

a) Subsidiaries 

In January 2018, wholly owned subsidiary MyFiziq Inc. was incorporated in the United States of America in 
preparation for the commercialisation of the technology in the USA. During the financial year there was no 
activity in this subsidiary. 

b) Holding company 

The ultimate holding company is MyFiziq Limited. 
 
c) Joint agreement in which the Company is a joint venture 
The Company has a 50% interest in Body Composition Technologies Pte. Limited (BCT), a company incorporated 
in Singapore for the purpose of developing the MyFiziq platform for commercialisation within the medical or 
insurance sector.  See Note 26. 

During 2020, the Company provided services to Body Composition Technologies Pty Ltd (“BCT Australia” an 
Australian incorporated wholly owned subsidiary of BCT) for which the Company earned revenue of $420,839 
(2019: $743,614  
 
During the previous financial year, the Company entered into a loan agreement with BCT Australia.  The loan is 
interest free and payable by 30 June 2021; or within 30 days of BCT receiving cash from capital raise activities 
currently under way, whichever occurs sooner.  At 30 June 2020, the balance of the loan was $68,500. 
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Note 25 Related Party Disclosures (continued) 

d) Transactions with Directors 

Transactions with Directors, as Directors of the Company, during the year are disclosed at Note 24.  

Other transactions with key management personnel 

During the financial year ended 30 June 2020, the Company paid $26,156 (2019: $10,676) to Steinepreis Paganin, 
an entity associated with Mr Peter Wall, for legal services.  At 30 June 2020, a further $10,622 was owing to 
Steinepreis Paganin (2019: nil). 

The Company entered into a $2,000,000 Convertible Loan facility with a company related to director Mr Nicholas 
Prosser.  A drawdown of, $500,000 had been made against this facility, with total unpaid interest owing of 
$28,436. The balance of principal and interest owing was converted to shares in June 2020 at an issue price of 
$0.30 per share. Refer to Note 17. 

In January 2020, the Company received an unsecured short-term loan of $250,000 from Pheakes Pty Ltd, a 
company associated with director Mr Peter Wall. The loan attracted interest at a rate of 10% per annum. A 
further loan of $250,000 with similar terms was received in February 2020. The loan and accrued interest was 
repaid in full in June 2020.  

Other than the key management personnel related party disclosure in the Remuneration Report and in Note 24, 
there were no related party transactions with directors to report for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

Note 26 Interest in a Joint Venture 

The Company has a 50% interest in Body Composition Technologies Pte Limited (BCT). The Company’s interest 
in BCT is accounted for using the equity method.  Under the equity method, the Company’s investment in a joint 
venture is initially recorded at cost, and subsequently the carrying value of the investment is increased or 
decreased to recognise the Company’s share of the joint venture profit or loss. 

The Company was issued 680 shares in BCT at a value of A$1.00 per share. 
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Note 26 Interest in a Joint Venture (continued) 

 

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information of the Company’s investment in BCT. 

 

  30 June 

2020 

30 June 

2019 

  $ $ 

Current assets  25,330 40,726 

Non-current assets  40,276 99,797 

Current liabilities  (892,168) (117,446) 

Non-current liabilities  (350,000) (482,201) 

Equity  (1,176,562) (459,124) 

Company’s carrying amount of the investment  - - 

    

Revenue  290,815 - 

Expenses  (1,442,712) (1,680,898) 

Loss for the year  (1,151,897) (1,680,898) 

Company’s share of the loss (i)  (575,949) (840,449) 

    

Carrying value of the BCT investment    

Investment brought to account at cost  680 680 

Share of the joint venture’s loss (i)  (680) (680) 

Closing carrying value of the investment  - - 

    

 

(i) As the investment in the joint venture has been written down to nil, no share of the joint venture’s 
loss has been brought to account in the Company’s loss from ordinary activities for the current 
financial period. 

 

Note 27 Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date 

On 9 July 2020, the Company received its third payment under the convertible note subscription deed concluded 
with Asia Cornerstone Asset Management on 1 June 2020, in the amount of USD$450,000, as well as $382,139 
from its joint venture partner, Body Composition Technologies Pty Ltd. 

On 13 July 2020, Dato Low Koon Poh (“Ken Low”) was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company. 
More information on Ken Low can be found in the “Directors’ section of this report. 

On 20 July 2020, the Company announced that it would participate in the Body Composition Technologies Pte 
Ltd (BCT) capital raising in the amount of approximately $671,000. The participation will increase MyFiziq’s 
shareholding in BCT, upon conversion, to a majority stake of 54.5% in BCT (on a fully diluted basis). 

On 22 July 2020, the Company received $250,000 in payments from Body Composition Technologies Pte Ltd for 
work carried out on partner builds and integrations as well as a license fee instalment of $200,000. Furthermore, 
MyFiziq concluded its uptake of the $670,833 of convertible notes (refer above). 

Following the execution of a formal funding agreement for USD$1.5 million with Asia cornerstone Asset 
Management (ACAM), USD$1,125,000 had been received by 21 August 2020 and a further USD375,000 is 
expected to be paid by the end of October 2020. 
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Note 27 Events Subsequent to the Reporting Date (continued) 

On 24 August 2020, the MyFiziq-Bearn Application went live on Google Play and Apple App Stores and will be 
rolled out to potentially 25 million pre-registered users in a staged approach.  

On 23 September 2020, the Company’s joint venture partner, Body Composition Technologies Pte Ltd completed 
its A$2,000,000 funding round.  As part of the funding round, a formal subscription agreement for A$985,833 
was executed with i-Concept Global Growth Fund (“i-CGGF”). 

The impact of the Coronavirus ('COVID-19') pandemic is ongoing for the entity up to 30 June 2020, it is not 
practicable to estimate the potential impact, positive or negative, after the reporting date. The situation is 
rapidly developing and is dependent on measures imposed by the Australian Government and other countries, 
such as maintaining social distancing requirements, quarantine, travel restrictions and any economic stimulus 
that may be provided. 

 

Note 28 Auditor’s Remuneration 

Total remuneration paid or payable to auditors during the financial year:  
 2020 2019 
 $ $ 

 
Audit and review of the Company’s financial statements 

 
50,200 

 
39,263 

Taxation services 2,900 6,387 

Total 53,100 45,650 
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In the opinion of the directors of MyFiziq Limited (the ‘Company’): 

a. The accompanying financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

i. giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and of its 

performance for the year then ended; and 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001, 

professional reporting requirements and other mandatory requirements. 

 

b. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 

they become due and payable. 

 

c. The financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in 

accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2020. 

This declaration is signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors. 

 

DATED at Perth this 29th day of September 2020. 

 

 

 

Vlado Bosanac 
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF MYFIZIQ LIMITED 
 
 
 
Report on the Financial Report 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of MyFiziq Limited (the company), which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2020, the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, and the directors’ declaration of the company. 
 
In our opinion the financial report of MyFiziq Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 
including: 

 
i) Giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2020 and 

of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 
 

ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 
2001. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.  
 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1(a) in the financial report, which indicates 
that the company incurred a loss of $5,396,512 (2019: loss $4,357,162) during the year ended 30 June 
2020. This condition, along with other matters as set out in note 1(a), indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and therefore, the company may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business. 

 
The financial report of the company does not include any adjustments in relation to the recoverability 
and classification of recorded asset amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might 
be necessary should the company not continue as a going concern. 
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Independence 

We are independent of the company in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence 
Standards) (the code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 
 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  
 
Carrying Value of Intangible Asset 
 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 
As at 30 June 2020 the company has a capitalised 

intangible asset totalling $1,373,492 detailed in the 

statement of financial position and as disclosed in 

note 14. This represents 46.5% of the total assets of 

the company. 

The intangible asset relates to costs capitalised to 

develop software technology that can be embedded 

within a mobile phone application to create an 

avatar of individuals. 

The company’s accounting policy in respect of 

intangible assets is outlined in Note 1(f). Estimates 

and judgments in relation to intangible assets is 

detailed at Note 1(r). 

The asset is considered to have a finite life and is 

amortised over an estimated useful life of 10 years. 

Impairment testing is performed at each reporting 

period. 

  
Our work included the following procedures: 

 Obtaining management representation in relation to 
the judgments and estimates used in management’s 
value-in-use mode used to test for impairment at 
reporting date.   

 

 Gaining an understanding of activities and progress to 
date including reviewing contractual arrangements 
entered into.  

 

 Considered management’s future plans and intentions 
in the context of the value-in-use model. 

  

 Considered the adequacy of the financial report 
disclosures concerning the judgemental nature of the 
company’s assessment of impairment of this 
intangible asset.  
 

 
Valuation of Share Based Payments 
 

Why significant  How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

 

During the year the company issued 5,400,000 

share options as disclosed in Note 20.  

The valuation of share based payments requires 

judgement in determining the assumptions and 

inputs used in the valuation model. These 

assumptions and inputs are further described in 

Note 1 (q) and Note 20 to the financial report.  

  

Our work included, but was not limited to:  

 Reviewing the key inputs used to calculate the value 

of share based payments including expected 

volatility, risk free interest rate, strike price, share 

price at grant date and expiry date of the right or 

option;  

 Performing recalculations of the valuation based on 

inputs.  

We also assessed the appropriateness of the Note 

disclosures Note 1 (q) and Note 20.  
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Other Information 

Other information is financial and non-financial information in the annual report of the company which 
is provided in addition to the Financial Report and the Auditor’s Report. The directors are responsible 
for Other Information in the annual report. 
 
Our opinion on the Financial Report does not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, the auditor 
does not and will not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon, with the 
exception of the Remuneration Report. 
  
In connection with our audit of the Financial Report, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information 
in the Financial Report and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we 
obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 
 

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Financial Report 

The Directors of MyFiziq Limited are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.   
 
In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using a 
going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue and auditor’s report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individual or 
in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of this financial report. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control. 

 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 
a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the company to express an opinion on the financial report. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
 
We communicate with the Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.  
 
We also provide the Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards.  
 
From the matters communicated with the Directors, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial report of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.  
 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 30 
June 2020.  
 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of MyFiziq Limited for the year ended 30 June 2020, complies 
with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  
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Responsibilities 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration 

Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian 

Auditing Standards. 

 

 

 

 

PKF PERTH 
 

 

SIMON FERMANIS 
PARTNER 
 
29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
WEST PERTH, 
WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
 



 
Additional ASX Information 

   
Pursuant to the Listing Requirements of the Australian Securities Exchange, the shareholder information set out 

below was applicable as at 9 October 2020. 

A. Distribution of Equity Securities 
 Analysis of numbers of shareholders by size of holding: 

  

Ordinary Fully Paid Shares 

Distribution Number of shareholders Securities held 

1 – 1,000 430 246,628 

1,001 – 5,000 670 1,850,775 

5,001 – 10,000 248 1,994,979 

10,001 – 100,000 335 11,320,098 

More than 100,000 96 99,554,413 

Totals 1,779 114,966,893 

There are 95 shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares. 

B. Twenty Largest Shareholders 
The names of the twenty largest holders of the quoted class of shares are listed below: 

 

  Ordinary Shares  

Shareholder Name Number of shares % of Shares 

MAD SCIENTIST PTY LTD 16,900,000 14.70% 

THE RAIN MAKER MGMT SDN BHD 12,393,652 10.78% 

PHEAKES PTY LTD 8,700,000 7.57% 

MR NICHOLAS JOHN BLAIR PROSSER 5,510,036 4.79% 

J P MORGAN NOMINEES AUSTRALIA PTY LIMITED 4,410,853 3.84% 

PAUL DI GIUSEPPE <The VB Account> 3,391,864 2.95% 

CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 3,180,314 2.77% 

BNP PARIBAS NOMINEES PTY LTD <IB AU NOMS 
RETAILCLIENT DRP> 

3,107,204 2.70% 

TERENCE STUPPLE 2,500,000 2.17% 

J15I PTE LTD (W E F 16/06/2017) 2,466,375 2.15% 

HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 2,116,943 1.84% 

SOHEILA TAEBI 2,100,000 1.83% 

IFM PTY LIMITED 2,014,959 1.75% 

FITLAB FUND MANAGEMENT LLC 2,000,000 1.74% 

BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 1,813,916 1.58% 

MR WILLY CHAN FOO WENG 1,665,287 1.45% 

MR JOHN ZACCARIA <THE ZACCARIA SHARE A/C> 1,500,000 1.30% 

RED LEAF SECURITIES PTY LTD 1,200,000 1.04% 

NETWEALTH INVESTMENTS LIMITED <WRAP SERVICES 
A/C> 

1,117,167 0.97% 

MR MOHAAMAD SHAMIN BIN MOHAAMAD SAHAFI 1,054,370 0.92% 

Total 79,142,940 68.84% 
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C. Substantial Shareholders 
Substantial Shareholders (who hold 5% or more of the issued capital), as disclosed in substantial holding 

notices given to the Company, is set out below: 

 

 Issued Ordinary Shares 

Shareholder Name Number of shares % of Shares 

MAD SCIENTIST PTY LTD 16,900,000 16.52% 

THE RAIN MAKER MGMT SDN BHD 12,594,072 10.96% 

PHEAKES PTY LTD 8,500,000 8.70% 

 

D. Unquoted Securities 
 

Options: 

No of Options Exercise Price Expiry Date No of Holders 

2,250,000 $0.10 31 December 2020 3 

1,750,000 $0.10 31 December 2021 3 

350,000 $0.50 31 December 2022 2 

500,000 $0.50 31 December 2023 3 

400,000 $0.65 31 December 2022 2 

400,000 $0.65 31 December 2023 2 

250,000 $0.60 20 February 2022 2 

1,000,000 $0.25 4 December 2022 1 

1,500,000 $0.45 4 December 2022 1 

2,500,000 $0.60 4 December 2022 1 

300,000 $0.50 31 January 2022 2 

 

 

Performance Rights: 

No of Performance Rights Expiry Date No of Holders 

2,000,000 3 March 2021 1 

2,000,000 3 March 2022 1 

500,000 31 December 2020 1 

3,000,000 3 September 2021 1 

2,000,000 30 November 2020 1 

5,000,000 4 December 2023 1 

1,250,000 28 February 2021 1 
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E. Voting Rights 
 

Ordinary Fully Paid Shares 

In accordance with the Company’s Constitution, voting rights in respect of ordinary shares are on a 

show of hands at a meeting of shareholders, whereby each member present in person or by proxy shall 

have one vote and upon a poll, each share will have one vote. 

 

Unlisted Options and Performance Rights 

Holders of unlisted options and performance rights shall have no right to vote on any resolutions 

proposed at a meeting of shareholders, unless and until the option or performance right is exercised 

and ordinary shares are held.  

 

 

F. Restricted Securities 
  

The Company has restricted securities as follows: 

Class Number of securities Restricted until 

Ordinary shares (MYQ) 500,000 4 December 2020 

Ordinary shares (MYQ) 2,000,000 25 August 2021 

Ordinary shares (MYQ) 76,470 22 September 2021 

 

 

 

 


